
 

 

  
 
 

LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

 

Lincoln Board Room 
215 7th Avenue South 

Lewistown, Montana 59457 
 

MONDAY, February 11, 2019 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER (6:00 p.m.)  
  1. Roll Call  
 2. Pledge of Allegiance 
 3. Motion to Set Agenda 
 4. Recognition of the Business Professionals of America Club  
 5. Report—Student Representative 
 6.  Report---LEA 
 7. Report—Committees of the Board 
 8. Calendar Items, Concerns, Correspondence, Etc. 
SUPERINTENDENT’S REPORT 
 9. Report—2017-2018 Audit Report 
 10. Report—Election Information 
 11. Report—Budget Update 
 12. Report—Investment  
 13. Report—Superintendent  
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 14. Recognition of Parents, Patrons, and Others Who Wish to Address the Board on 

Non-Agenda Items 
ACTION ITEMS 
 MINUTES 
  15. Minutes of the January 14, 2019, Regular Board Meeting 
  APPROVAL OF CLAIMS 
 16. Claims 
 INDIVIDUAL ITEMS 

17. Approve Out-Of-District Student Attendance Agreement Requests for Placement In and 
Out of Lewistown Public Schools  

 18. Approve First Semester Claim for Individual Contract Bus Reimbursement 
 19. Approve First Semester Elementary & High School Claims for Bus Reimbursement 
 20.  Approve Trustee Resolution Calling for an Election 
 21. Approve 2019-2020 School Calendar 
 22. Approve Audit Contract for FY19-FY21 
 23. Approve Additions to the Substitute List for the 2018-2019 School Year 
 24. Approve Personnel Report 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 25. Superintendent’s Post Evaluation 
ADJOURNMENT 
 

A hard copy of the complete Agenda is available at the LPS Central Office 
or on the Lewistown Public Schools Website: 

       http://www.lewistown.k12.mt.us/content/266 
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PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
The Board of Education encourages participation at public School Board meetings.  Under normal 

circumstances it is desirable to allow everyone to address the Board.  However, when there are many persons 

who wish to address the Board, the following rules shall apply to protect the public’s right to be heard: 

 

 Speaker must first be recognized by the Chair and identify him/herself. 

 Comments may not infringe on the rights to privacy of another. 

 Each speaker shall be allowed a presentation not to exceed three (3) minutes at the 
appropriate time on the Agenda. 

 There will be a limit of one presentation per person. 

 The Board requests that organizations and groups be represented by a single spokesperson.  
The spokesperson for each group shall be limited .to a presentation of three (3) minutes.  To 
save repetition and time, the Board also requests that persons not speak if a previous speaker 
has expressed a similar position on the same issue. 

 Appropriate comments are welcome but no action is likely to be taken at this time to ensure 
that others have the opportunity to address the same issue also.  Items discussed may, at the 
discretion of the Board, be placed on a later agenda. 

 The Board will accept comments from the public on each agenda item as it is discussed. 

 

By a majority vote of the Board, these rules may be suspended for special reasons at any particular meeting.  

Further, the Board may reserve the right to adjust the length of time. 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report   Action – Consent 
                              Action – Indiv. 
            
ITEM TITLE:    RECOGNITION –FHS BUSINESS PROFESSIONALS OF AMERICA CLUB___________ 
 
Requested By:      Board of Trustees    Prepared By:  _DIANE LEWIS _____________________________ 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
Diane Lewis, Advisor and the FHS Business Professionals of America Club will be recognized for their 
participation at the Region 3 Leadership Conference at Great Falls on January 21, 2019.  
 

 
  

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational  
 
               
  

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
              
NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      REPORT—STUDENT REPRESENTATIVE        
 
Requested By:      Board of Trustees    Prepared By:        Libbey Fried-Jenness_______  ______________          
 
SUMMARY: 
 

Fergus High School Student Representative to the Board of Trustees will provide a report on 
upcoming activities at Fergus High School. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational 
               
  

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 
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FHS Club Report 
 

1. BPA: Practicing for state on March 10, 11, and 12.  They are also selling crush pops 
this week and next for Valentine’s Day. 

2. FCCLA: Members are working on their projects for State and also participating in 
community service activities.  Selling Valentine’s day cookies. 

3. FFA: Recently went to Denton for districts.  Getting ready for state on April 6. 
4. HOW Club: N/A 
5. YPR Club: N/A 
6. Key Club: Food drive to help kids who don’t get dinner at nights or meals on 

weekends. Made soup for the Council on Aging. 
7. Art Club: N/A 
8. Outdoors Club: N/A 
9. Spanish Club: Language Days in March 
10. Science Olympiad: N/A 
11. Robotics: Working on Science Fair projects  
12. Graduation Matters: N/A 
13. National Honor Society: N/A 
14. F Club: N/A 
15. Speech and Drama: June LePage got 1st, Jo Zapata-Brown got 8th, Jane Rooney and 

Sean Kuneau got 6th 
16. Student Council: Working on planning a retreat in February to discuss club ideas and 

also held the Winter Spirit Week and MORP dance. 
17. Central Montana Youth Mentoring: Mentors are reporting weekly hours, attending 

large group activities, and going to lunches with their mentees.  
18. Astronomy Club: N/A 
19. Youth Alive: Meeting every Wednesday  
20. Ducks Unlimited: N/A 
21. Skills USA: N/A 
22. Gay-Straight Alliance: Meeting weekly 
23. Model UN: N/A 
24. Film Club: N/A 
25. Tech Club: Meeting every Friday and working to make the library a better place for 

students. 
26. Book Club: “” 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

 
                 
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report   Action – Consent 
                              Action – Indiv. 
          
          
           
ITEM TITLE:      REPORT—LEWISTOWN EDUCATION ASSOCIATION (LEA)     
 
Requested By:      Board of Trustees    Prepared By:       LEA Representative____________________________           
                
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Lewistown Education Association (LEA) would like to update the Board of Trustees on the 
activities and happenings for their organization. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational  
 
               
  

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      REPORT—COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD        
 
Requested By:      Board of Trustees    Prepared By:   Committee _____________________________     
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 The Board of Trustees has the opportunity to provide updates on their various committees. 
  

 
Attached is the list for Standing Committees of the Board for the 2018-2019 School Year. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

  
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational 
 
               
  

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

02/11/2019 7 

7



STANDING COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD
2018-2019 School Year

 Number CJ Kris Phil Jeff Jennifer Stephen Monte
on Comm. Bailey Birdwell Koterba Southworth Thompson Vantassel Weeden

Building & Grounds 3 X X X

Insurance Risk Committee 2 X X

Transportation 3 X X X

OTHER COMMITTEES WITH BOARD REPRESENTATION
2018-2019 School Year

 Number CJ Kris Phil Jeff Jennifer Stephen Monte
on Comm. Bailey Birdwell Koterba Southworth Thompson Vantassel Weeden

Activities 2 X X

Curriculum Committees:

Health Insurance Program 2 X X

School Calendar 1 X

Vocational Advisory Council 1 X

Gaining 3 X X X

`

X X

Committee

Committee

2      Fine Arts, Library, Technology,  
      Guidance, Health Enhancement
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

       
ITEM TITLE:     CALENDAR ITEMS, CONCERNS, CORRESPONDENCE, ETC.     
 
Requested By:      Board of Trustees      Prepared By:                                                                                      ___     
            _______________ 
 
SUMMARY: 
 

Time is provided on the agenda for the Board to discuss calendar items, concerns, 
correspondence, future agenda items, and comments for the good of the district. 

 
 Letter from National Association of Agricultural Educators 
 Legislative latest update 
 MHSA Proposals and Action from Annual meeting 

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   
 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

          
 
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report  Action - Consent 
                            Action - Indiv. 
 
ITEM TITLE:        REPORT—2017-2018 AUDIT RESULTS        
 
Requested By: ___Superintendent          Prepared By:            Rebekah Rhoades ______________________ 
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

Paul Strom and Associates completed the audit for FY2017-2018.   
 
The auditor has attended the Lewistown Public Schools Board meeting in the past to present 
the audit and answer any questions you may have. Rebekah Rhoades and Mr. Peck attended 
the exit interview with Mr. Strom in September and there were no findings reported.  
Therefore, Mr. Strom was not asked to travel from Billings to attend our meeting. If the 
Board has questions, Mr. Strom can be invited to attend an upcoming meeting. 
 
The audit report will be posted in its entirety on the District website as well as a hard copy at 
the District Business Office for the public to view.  A copy of the audit will also be available at 
the meeting for your convenience. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational Report 
               

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
NOTES: 
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Lewistown Public Schools 

Management Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

For The Year Ended June 30, 2018 

 

 

The Business Manager of the Lewistown Public Schools has provided this MD&A to give the 

reader of these statements an overview of the financial position and activities of the school dis-

trict for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.   

 

Using This Financial Report 

The general format of the report is required by Statement No. 34 of the Governmental Accounting Stand-

ards Board (GASB).  Thus is born the GASB 34 requirement. 

 

Reporting the School District as a Whole 

The report includes two district-wide statements that focus on operations of the district as a whole.  These 

statements measure operations using an economic resources measurement focus, and use the accrual basis 

accounting.  Activities that are fiduciary in nature are not included in these statements. 

 

A. The Statement of Net Position shows “assets” (what is owned), “liabilities” (what is owed), 

and the “net position” (the resources that would remain if all obligations were settled) of the 

school district. Some assets are restricted for certain purposes or reserved for emergencies 

and cash flow purposes.  Some assets are invested in “fixed” or “capital” assets, such as 

buildings, equipment and other long-lived property; and some assets are available to fund 

budgets of the following year. 

B. The Statement of Activities shows the amounts of program-specific and general school dis-

trict revenue used to support the school district’s various functions. 

 

The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities divide the activities of the school district 

into three categories: 

 

Governmental activities – The school functions including instruction, student services, ad-

ministration, etc.  Property taxes, state and federal revenues usually support most of these 

functions of the district. 

 

Proprietary (business-type) activities – school operations included in this category include 

IMC, Central Supply Store, and Central Transportation. 

 

Reporting the District’s Most Significant Funds 

The fund statements provide detailed information about the funds used by the school district.  

State law and Generally Accepted Accounting Procedures (GAAP) established the fund struc-

ture of school districts.  State law generally requires school districts to segregate money gen-

erated for certain purposes, like transportation and debt service, in separate fund accounts. 

 

The fund statements report balances and activities of the most significant or “major” funds 

separately and combine the activities of less significant funds under a single category.  Signif-

icance of funds is determined based on the proportional size of the funds, the relative im-

portance of the activities of the funds to the school district’s operations, and the existence of 

legal budget requirements.  Internal Service funds are never reported as major funds, but are 

combined and presented in a separate set of financial statements.  
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The Balance Sheet and Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance 

are shown for governmental funds such as the general funds, special revenue funds for trans-

portation and school food service, and debt service and capital outlay funds.  These funds use 

the modified accrual basis of accounting and represent the majority of the district’s activities 

and programs. 

 

Fund statements include a reconciliation of the governmental fund statements to the district-

wide statements.  Most significant differences result from the use of different presentation ba-

sis.  The district-wide statements are presented using the accrual basis of accounting and the 

fund statements for governmental funds use the modified accrual basis.  In addition, general 

capital assets and general long-term debt are reported in the district-wide statements but not 

in the fund statements. 

 

Reporting the District’s Trust and Fiduciary Responsibilities 

 
The District is the trustee, or fiduciary, for endowments (including Eveline Eccles and Alweis 

Scholarships) and the student extracurricular funds. 

 

This report includes the activities in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and 

Changes in Fiduciary Net Position because the district cannot use these assets to fund its op-

eration. 

 

The District is responsible for ensuring these assets are used for their intended purpose. 

 

Budget–to-Actual Comparisons 

 

The district consistently reconciles its books monthly. 

 

 

 

THE DISTRICT AS A WHOLE 

 

Net Position serves over time as a useful indicator of a school district’s financial position.  In the Lewis-

town Public Schools, liabilities exceeded assets by $356,882 as of June 30, 2018.  In 2018, the District 

was required to implement the new OPEB GASB 75 standard for liability accounting of post-employment 

benefits (non-pension).  This number, in addition to the required reporting of the TRS and PERS liability 

that was implemented in 2015, has caused liabilities to exceed assets.   If these liabilities were not re-

quired to be on our books, the District’s assets would easily exceed liabilities.   
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Lewistown Public Schools 

Condensed Statement of Net Position 

 

Governmental Activities 

 

       FY2017 FY2018 

Current and other assets     5,777,569 5,666,830 

  Capital assets      7,354,165 7,723,806 

   Total Assets   13,131,734 13,390,636 

 

  Current liabilities        123,993 32,373 

  Non-current liabilities   12,402,281 14,643,779 

   Total Liabilities  12,526,274 12,526,273 

 

  Invested in capital assets, 

  Net of debt     7,354,165 7,723,806 

  Restricted     4,253,319 4,162,012 

  Unrestricted    (9,405,776) (12,242,700) 

   Total Net Position              2,201,708 (356,882) 

   

    

Lewistown Public Schools 

Changes in Net Position 

 

Governmental Activities 

 

GENERAL REVENUES  

          FY2017 FY2018 

  District Levy      3,801,142  4,281,534 

  State Equalization     3,587,290  3,532,102 

  Other State Revenue     2,720,751  2,516,947 

  County        1,294,800  1,319,845 

  Federal                      0 0 

Investment Earning          49,445 59,010 

Gain on Asset          209,572 59,564 

  Other            212,742 148,963  

  Total General Revenue  14,418,824 14,206,466 

GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS 

 

  Instruction (includes OPEB)    7,502,171  7,161,780 

  Support           489,905  373,673 

  Media          514,490  461,370 

  Administration      1,951,816  2,162,142 

  O & M       1,789,177  1,788,719 

  Transportation         828,750  879,517 

  Extracurricular         287,087  295,792 

  School Food         721,405  727,128 

  Other Current Charges          45,325  36,545 

  Interest and Other Charges              550  0 

Depreciation – unallocated          64,823  87,732 

  Total Operations                  14,195,499 13,974,398 
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Capital Assets 

As of June 30, 2018, the District had invested over $7 million in capital assets including land and land 

improvements, buildings and improvements, and machinery and equipment. General fixed assets are re-

ported at historical cost.  Historical cost was established at the initial booking of fixed assets by determin-

ing actual costs or estimating using standard costing procedure.  The District’s fixed asset policy is set to 

include items of $5,000 and a useful life in excess of one year.  The following schedule presents capital 

balances with accumulated depreciation as of June 30th.   

 

      FY2017 FY2018 

Land and Improvements   1,954,251 2,001,933  

  Accumulated Depreciation (923,218) (966,144) 

       1,031,033 1,035,788 

 

  Buildings and Improvements 12,083,608 12,930,463 

  Construction in Progress       240,153 0 

  Accumulated Depreciation (7,029,695) (7,386,792) 

        5,294,066 5,543,671 

 

  Machinery and Equipment  3,645,588 3,893,207 

  Accumulated Depreciation (2,616,520) (2,656,520) 

       1,029,068 1,236,687 

 

The District’s Future 

State law enables districts to use three-year average or current year enrollment (whichever is higher) 

when calculating budgets.  Over the past five years, enrollment has increased in the elementary while 

slightly decreasing in the high school.  Both this year and next, we will see a further decline in enrollment 

at the High School based on the number of students currently in the Junior High.  There continues to be a 

growing need for services for special needs students, but little assistance from the State.  The current 

Lewistown Collective Bargaining Agreement extends though FY20, and included a 1.5% (FY19) and 2% 

(FY20) raise for all employees.  Ove the past several years, we had many retirements, causing the de-

mographics of the District to change to a younger population.   

 

The district also faces other challenges and decisions including: 

 

• The Lewistown Board of Trustees was not able, because of budget limits, to run a levy in either 

the elementary or high school in FY18.  There have been failed attempts in the past to pass levies 

that has caused the Board to be very conscientious in what they ask of taxpayers.  In addition, re-

cent Legislative decisions have “shifted” some of the costs of education to the local taxpayers.  

The Board will need to be diligent in their consideration of both voted and non-voted levies in the 

future. 

• The District estimates that general building repairs and maintenance in excess of $10 million will 

be necessary over the next several years.  Both an Elementary and High School Building Reserve 

Levy passed in May 2016, helping to support the needs of upkeep of the District’s facilities.  In 

2017, Legislature added the ability to “permissively” levy in the Building Reserve Fund.  At this 

time, the Board has determined not to use this new authority, but may have to consider it in the 

future as our Buildings continue to age and need major repairs. The District is also beginning the 

process of consideration of a Bond election in 2020 to address building needs in the district. 
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• The ever-increasing use of technology in the classrooms has put a financial dilemma upon the 

District.  Currently, both the Elementary and High School have permanent levies in place.  The 

Elementary yearly levy is $61,498 and the High School’s is $54,165, not enough to keep all tech-

nology within the District up-to-date.  Due to changes in state law, if additional funds are request-

ed of voters, the levy may not exceed 10 years.  The Board will need to determine if non-

permanent Technology Levy request will need to be presented to voters in the future. 

   

In the end, all of the District’s finances boil down to how effectively we are educating our children.  We 

must continue to keep our focus on our students’ education and allocate our resources in the manner that 

best serves them. 

 

 

Contact for Additional Information 

If you have questions about this report or need additional information, contact the Business Manager at 

the Lewistown Public Schools, 215 7th Avenue South, Lewistown, MT 59457, (406)-535-8777 x116. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

Board of Trustees 

Lewistown School District No. 1 

Fergus County 

Lewistown, Montana 59457 

 

 

 

Report on the Financial Statements 

 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate re-

maining fund information of the Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, 

and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the School District’s basic financial statements as 

listed in the table of contents.   

 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP); this includes the design, implementation, and mainte-

nance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material mis-

statement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 

with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits con-

tained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that 

we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material mis-

statement. 

 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 

financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control rele-

vant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appro-

priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. 

Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 

financial statements. 

 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

 

Opinions 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position 

of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Lewistown School District 

No. 1 as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 

then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
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Change in Accounting Principle  
 
As described in Note 1 and 12 to the financial statements, in year ended June 30, 2018, the Lewistown School District No. 1 
adopted GASB Statement No. 75 – Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions.  Our 
opinions are not modified with respect to this matter. 
 
Other Matters 
 
Required Supplementary Information (RSI) 
 
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America requires that the management’s discussion and analysis 
(pages 3 - 7), and the schedule of funding for other post-employment benefits other than pensions (page 42), and schedule of 
proportionate share of net pension liability and schedule of contributions to Montana retirement systems (pages 43 - 48), and 
budgetary comparison information (pages 49 - 52) be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, 
although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or 
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquires of management about the 
methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquir-
ies, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not 
express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient 
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

 
Other Information 

 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the Lewis-
town School District No. 1’s basic financial statements.  The accompanying schedule of revenues, expenses and balances of stu-
dent activity funds (pages 53 - 54) and schedule of reported enrollment (pages 55) are presented for purposes of additional analy-
sis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements.  The schedule of expenditures of federal awards (pages 56 - 57) is 
presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards, and is also not a required part of the 
basic financial statements. 
 
The accompanying schedule of revenues, expenses and balances of student activity funds, schedule of reported enrollment, and 
the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to 
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including com-
paring and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic finan-
cial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing stand-
ards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the accompanying schedule of revenues, expenses and 
balances of student activity funds, schedule of reported enrollment, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.  
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated January 15, 2019 on our consideration 
of the Lewistown School District No. 1 internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the 
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide 
an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance.  That report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Lewistown School District No. 1 internal control over finan-
cial reporting and compliance. 
 
 
 
 
STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC 
Billings, Montana 
January 15, 2019 
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

Governmental
 Activities

ASSETS:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 5,390,922$          
Taxes receivable 155,315               
Due from other governments 77,934                
Inventories 42,659                

Total current assets 5,666,830            

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets:

Land 590,530               
Net depreciable assets 7,133,276            

Total noncurrent assets 7,723,806            

Total assets 13,390,636          

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Employer pension plan activities 1,176,670            

Total deferred outflows of resources 1,176,670            

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 14,567,306$         

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:

Unearned revenue 14,632                
Other current liabilities 6,356                  
Current portions long-term debt obligations 55,000                
Current portions compensated absences 56,385                

Total current liabilities 132,373               

Noncurrent liabilities:
Long-term debt obligations 11,000                
Compensated absences 439,652               
Net pension accrual 10,123,673          
Other postemployment benefits 4,069,454            

Total noncurrent liabilities 14,643,779          

Total liabilities 14,776,152          

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Employer pension plan 148,036               

Total deferred inflows of resources 148,036               

NET POSITION:
Net investment in capital assets 7,723,806            
Restricted 4,162,012            
Unrestricted (Deficit) (12,242,700)         

Total net position (356,882)             

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position 14,567,306$         

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
June 30, 2018

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

Expenses
Charge for
 Services

Operating 
Grants and 

Contributions

Capital 
Grants and

 Contributions
Governmental

 Activities

GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS:
Instructional services 7,161,780$         37,826$              1,196,466$         -$                        (5,927,488)$           
Support services 373,673              -                          60,490                -                          (313,183)                
Educational media services 461,370              -                          35,654                -                          (425,716)                
General administrative services 2,162,142           152,462              30,391                -                          (1,979,289)             
Operation & maintenance services 1,788,719           14,607                29,206                55,465                (1,689,441)             
Transportation services 879,517              -                          143,451              -                          (736,066)                
School food services 727,128              249,668              282,815              -                          (194,645)                
Extracurricular 295,792              -                          -                          -                          (295,792)                
Other current charges 36,545                -                          -                          -                          (36,545)                  
Unallocated depreciation expense * 87,732                -                          -                          -                          (87,732)                  

Total Governmental Activities 13,974,398         454,563              1,778,473           55,465                (11,685,897)           

GENERAL REVENUES:
District levies 4,281,534              
State Equalization 3,532,102              
Other State Revenues 2,516,947              
County 1,319,845              
Interest 59,010                   
Other  148,963                 
Gain (loss) on Sale of Assets 59,564                   

Total General Revenues 11,917,965            

Change in Net Position 232,068                 

NET POSITION:
Beginning of the year 2,201,708              
Prior period adjustments (2,790,658)             

End of the year (356,882)$              

* Excludes depreciation included in direct expenses of the various functions

Program Revenues
Net (Expenses) Revenues 

and Changes in Net Position

Primary Government

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the year ended June 30, 2018

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

General
 Miscellaneous 

Programs 
(Elem.) 

 Interlocal 
Agreement Fund 

Other
 Governmental

 Funds

Total
 Governmental

 Funds

ASSETS:    
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1,325,910$         610,063$               631,330$            2,771,141$         5,338,444$         
Taxes receivable 106,972              -                             -                          48,343                155,315              
Due from other governments -                          71,724                   -                          6,210                  77,934                
Inventories -                          -                             -                          42,659                42,659                

Total assets 1,432,882           681,787                 631,330              2,868,353           5,614,352           

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Total deferred outflows of resources -                          -                             -                          -                          -                          

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 1,432,882$         681,787$               631,330$            2,868,353$         5,614,352$         

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:

Unearned revenue -                          -                             -                          14,632                14,632                
Other current liabilities -                          6,356                      -                          -                          6,356                  
Cash overdraft -                          -                             -                          1,352                  1,352                  

Total liabilities -                          6,356                      -                          15,984                22,340                

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Unavailable property taxes receivable 106,972              -                             -                          48,343                155,315              

Total deferred inflows of resources 106,972              -                             -                          48,343                155,315              

FUND BALANCE (DEFICITS):
Nonspendable -                          -                             -                          42,659                42,659                
Restricted -                          675,431                 631,330              2,764,249           4,071,010           
Unassigned 1,325,910           -                             -                          (2,882)                 1,323,028           

Total fund balance 1,325,910           675,431                 631,330              2,804,026           5,436,697           

Total liabilities, deferred inflows of resources, 

 and fund balance 1,432,882$         681,787$               631,330$            2,868,353$         5,614,352$         

RECONCILIATION TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Total fund balance reported above 5,436,697$         

Internal Service Fund Net Position 53,830                

Unavailable property taxes receivable 155,315              
Governmental capital assets 7,723,806           

Employer pension plan activities 1,176,670           

Long-term Liabilities
Long-term debt obligations (66,000)               
Compensated absences (496,037)             
Net pension accrual (10,123,673)        
Other postemployment benefits (4,069,454)          

Employer pension plan (148,036)             

Net Position of Governmental Activities (356,882)$           

MAJOR

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

June 30, 2018

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

General
Miscellaneous 

Programs 
(Elem.)

Interlocal 
Agreement Fund

Other
 Governmental

 Funds

Total
 Governmental

 Funds

REVENUES:
District levies 2,901,847$          -$                        -$                        1,335,920$           4,237,767$          
Interest 19,128                 -                          5,770                  34,112                  59,010                 
Charges for services -                          -                          152,462              287,494                439,956               
Other 1,873                   113,050              30,000                18,647                  163,570               
County -                          -                          -                          1,397,374             1,397,374            
State 6,477,679            71,597                -                          167,285                6,716,561            
Federal -                          362,567              -                          416,905                779,472               

Total revenues 9,400,527            547,214              188,232              3,657,737             13,793,710          

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Instructional services 5,345,836            392,399              86,949                1,045,069             6,870,253            
Support services 304,041               22,964                -                          42,865                  369,870               
Educational media services 322,586               42,057                1,050                  87,752                  453,445               
General administrative services 1,500,737            3,402                  166,900              424,049                2,095,088            
Operation & maintenance services 1,312,517            -                          31,168                111,087                1,454,772            
Transportation services 28,735                 4,739                  -                          655,103                688,577               
School food services 168,993               2,883                  -                          546,903                718,779               
Extracurricular 254,625               -                          -                          31,525                  286,150               
Other current charges -                          -                          42,841                5,494                    48,335                 

Capital outlay 14,004                 28,071                39,441                958,272                1,039,788            

Total expenditures 9,252,074            496,515              368,349              3,908,119             14,025,057          

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
   over expenditures 148,453               50,699                (180,117)             (250,382)               (231,347)              

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/USES:
Sale of capital assets -                          609                     24,169                34,786                  59,564                 
Fund transfers in -                          -                          223,025              -                            223,025               
Fund transfers (out) (223,025)             -                          -                          -                            (223,025)              

Total other financial sources/uses (223,025)             609                     247,194              34,786                  59,564                 

Net changes in fund balances (74,572)               51,308                67,077                (215,596)               (171,783)              

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of the year 1,400,482            624,123              564,253              3,019,329             5,608,187            

Prior period adjustments -                          -                          -                          293                       293                      

End of the year 1,325,910$          675,431$            631,330$            2,804,026$           5,436,697$          

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND
  CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
For the year ended June 30, 2018

MAJOR

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES,
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Net Changes in Fund Balance (171,783)$           

Change in net position from internal service funds 15,758                

Revenues on the Statement of Activities not included in governmental funds 
statement:

Capital contributions 55,465               
Increase (decrease) in taxes receivable 43,767               
State Pension Aid 253,960             353,192              

Revenues reported in the governmental funds statement not included in the Statement 
of Activities

Sale of Fixed Assets (59,564)               

Expenses on the Statement of Activities not included in the governmental funds 
statement:

Depreciation Expense (612,069)            
Actuarial Pension Expense (454,484)            
(Increase) decrease in compensated absence liability 11,666               (1,054,887)           

Expenditures reported in the governmental funds statement not included in the 
Statement of Activities

Capital outlays 1,039,788           
Gain (loss) on sale of assets 59,564               
Principal payments on debt 50,000               1,149,352            

Change in net position reported on the Statement of Activities 232,068$             

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

June 30, 2018

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal Service
ASSETS:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents 53,830$              

Total current assets 53,830                

Noncurrent assets:
Total noncurrent assets -                        

Total assets 53,830                

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Total deferred outflows of resources -                        

Total assets and deferred outflows of resources 53,830$              

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:

Total current liabilities -                        

Noncurrent liabilities:
Total noncurrent liabilities -                        

Total liabilities -                        

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES:
Total deferred inflows of resources -                        

NET POSITION:
Unrestricted (Deficit) 53,830                

Total net position 53,830                

Total liabilities, deferred inflows and net position 53,830$              

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND
 CHANGES IN FUND NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
For the year ended June 30, 2018

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal Service

OPERATING REVENUES:
Charges for services 164,879$             

Total operating revenues 164,879              

OPERATING EXPENSES:
Purchased services 149,121              

Total operating expense 149,121              

Operating income (loss) 15,758                

Change in net position 15,758                

NET POSITION:
Beginning of the Year 38,072                

End of the Year 53,830$              

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown School District No. 1
Fergus County
Lewistown, Montana 59457

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Receipts from customers 164,879$          

Claims paid (149,121)           

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 15,758              

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital financing activities -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities -                      

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities -                      

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,758              

BALANCE:

Beginning of the year 38,072              

End of the year 53,830$            

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET 
CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Operating income (loss) 15,758$            

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 15,758$            

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

For the Year Ended June 30, 2018

Governmental 
Activities - 

Internal 
Service

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

Private Purpose 
Trust Funds Agency Funds

ASSETS:
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 322,353$             809,305$               

Accounts receivable - net 2,755                   -                             

Total Assets 325,108$             809,305$               

LIABILITIES:
Current liabilities:

Warrants payable -                          809,305                 

Total Liabilities -                          809,305$               

NET POSITION:
Held in trust for endowment 113,314               
Held in trust for student activities 211,794               

Total Net Position 325,108$             

Private Purpose 
Trust Funds

ADDITIONS:
Revenues from student activities 390,311$             
Contributions to Endowment 1,223                   

Total Additions 391,534               

DEDUCTIONS:
Expenses of student activities 386,007               

Total Deductions 386,007               

Change in net position 5,527                   

NET POSITION:
Beginning of the year 319,581               

End of the year 325,108$             

For the year ended June 30, 2018

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION
FIDUCIARY FUNDS

June 30, 2018

FIDUCIARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
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NOTE 1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

1. a. REPORTING ENTITY 

 

The basic financial statements of the Lewistown School District No. 1 (School District) have been prepared on a prescribed basis 

of accounting that demonstrates compliance with the accounting and budget laws of the State of Montana, which conforms to 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP).  The School District applies all relevant Governmental Accounting Stand-

ards Board (GASB) pronouncements.  

 

At the end of fiscal year 2018 the School District adopted the following GASB Statements: 
 
• GASB Statement No. 75 – Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions. This 

Statement replaces the requirements of Statements No. 45, Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended, and No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and 

Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, for OPEB.  The School District implemented this Statement.   

• GASB Statement No. 88 – Certain Disclosures Related to Debt, including Direct Borrowings and Direct Placements. 

This Statement improves the information that is disclosed in notes to government financial statements related to debt, in-

cluding direct borrowings and direct placements. It also clarifies which liabilities governments should include when dis-

closing information related to debt. This Statement defines debt for purposes of disclosure in notes to financial statements 

as a liability that arises from a contractual obligation to pay cash (or other assets that may be used in lieu of cash) in one 

or more payments to settle an amount that is fixed at the date the contractual obligation is established.  The School Dis-

trict reviewed its debt disclosures and does not believe this Statement significantly affect its current debt disclosures.   

• GASB Statement No. 89 – Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred before the End of a Construction Period.  This State-

ment establishes accounting requirements for interest cost incurred before the end of a construction period. Such interest 

cost includes all interest that previously was accounted for in accordance with the requirements of paragraphs 5–22 of 

Statement No. 62, Codification of Accounting and Financial Reporting Guidance Contained in Pre-November 30, 1989 

FASB and AICPA Pronouncements, which are superseded by this Statement. This Statement requires that interest cost in-

curred before the end of a construction period be recognized as an expense in the period in which the cost is incurred for 

financial statements prepared using the economic resources measurement focus. As a result, interest cost incurred before 

the end of a construction period will not be included in the historical cost of a capital asset reported in a business-type ac-

tivity or enterprise fund.  The School District determined that this Statement does not significantly affect it reporting, but 

will comply if any construction projects are entered into.  

 

The following is a listing of GASB Statements which have been issued and the School District assessment of effects to the finan-

cial statements. 
 

• GASB Statement No. 83 – Certain Asset Retirement Obligation. This Statement addresses accounting and financial re-

porting for certain asset retirement obligations (AROs).  The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting pe-

riods beginning after June 15, 2018. The School District believes that this Statement is not applicable to its financial 

statements, however it will make a final determination on its applicability before the effective date. 

• GASB Statement No. 84 – Fiduciary Activities. This Statement establishes criteria for identifying fiduciary activities of 

all state and local governments. The focus of the criteria generally is on (1) whether a government is controlling the assets 

of the fiduciary activity and (2) the beneficiaries with whom a fiduciary relationship exists.  The requirements of this 

Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018. The School District plans to implement 

this Statement once the State of Montana updates the standard chart of accounts. 

• GASB Statement No. 87 – Leases. This Statement increases the usefulness of governments' financial statements by re-

quiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and 

recognized as inflows of resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes 

a single model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use an 

underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible right-to-use 

lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of resources, thereby enhancing 

the relevance and consistency of information about governments' leasing activities.  The requirements of this Statement 

are effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019. The School District plans to implement this State-

ment once it has identified all leases and has reviewed the Q&A on this Statement. 

 

The School District consists of two legally separate entities, an elementary district which provides education for kindergarten 

through eighth grade and a high school district which provides education for ninth through twelfth grade.  For financial reporting 

purposes the two school districts are combined because they are controlled by the same central board of trustees and managed by 

the same administration.  The board of trustees is elected by the public and it has the authority to make decisions, appoint admin-

istrators and managers, and significantly influence operations.  GAAP requires only one general fund for each reporting entity, so 

the elementary and high school general funds are combined in the accompanying financial statements. 
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Lewistown School District No. 1 was incorporated under the laws of the State of Montana and, as required by GAAP, the finan-

cial statements of the reporting entity include those of the Lewistown School District No. 1 (the primary government) and any 

component units. The criteria for including organizations as component units within the School District’s reporting entity is set 

forth in Section 2100 of the GASB “Codification of Government Accounting and Financial Reporting Standards.”  The basic 

criteria include appointing a voting majority of an organization’s governing body, as well as the School District’s ability to im-

pose its will on that organization, or the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefit to, or impose specific 

financial burdens on, the School District.  Based on those criteria the School District has no component units. 

 

1. b. BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND ACCOUNTING 

 

1. b. 1. GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENTS 

 

The government-wide financial statements include the statement of net position and the statement of activities.  The governmen-

tal activities column incorporates data from governmental funds and internal service funds, (primary government). Separate fi-

nancial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds,  and fiduciary funds, even though the latter are ex-

cluded from the government-wide financial statements.  

 

The government-wide financial statements report using the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis of ac-

counting and generally include the elimination of internal activity between or within funds.  Revenues are recorded when earned 

and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Property taxes are rec-

ognized in the year for which they are levied while grants are recognized when grantor eligibility requirements are met. 

 

Transfers between the funds included in governmental activities are eliminated so that only the net amount is included as trans-

fers in the governmental activities column.  

 

The statement of activities reports the direct expenses of a given function offset by program revenues directly connected with the 

functional program.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a function. Program revenues include: 

 

• Charges to customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by 

a given function. 

• Operating and Capital grants that are restricted to a particular function.   

 

Property taxes, investment earnings, state equalization payments, and other revenue sources not properly included with program 

revenue are reported as general revenues.  The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to 

which each governmental function is self-supporting or drawing from general revenues. 

 

1. b. 2. FUND ACCOUNTING 

 

The fund financial statements provide information about the government’s funds, including its fiduciary funds. Separate state-

ments for each fund category – governmental, proprietary, and fiduciary – are presented. The emphasis of fund financial state-

ments is on major governmental funds, each displayed in a separate column. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated 

and reported as non-major funds. Major individual governmental funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial 

statements.  The student activity funds and endowment funds are displayed as fiduciary funds.  Since the resources in the fiduci-

ary funds cannot be used for School District operations, they are not included in the government-wide statements. 

 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified 

accrual basis of accounting.  With this measurement focus, only current assets, current liabilities, and fund balance are included 

on the balance sheet.  Operating statements of these funds present net increases and decreases in current assets.  Revenues are 

recorded when they are both measurable and available.  Available means collectible within the current period – anything collect-

ed after June 30 is generally not material.  Unavailable income is recorded in governmental funds for delinquent taxes.  Expendi-

tures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for compensated absence payments which are recognized 

when due.  Capital assets are functional expenditures in governmental funds.  

 

Revenues from local sources consist primarily of property taxes.  Property tax revenue and revenues received from the State of 

Montana are recognized when susceptible to accrual.  Miscellaneous revenues are recorded as revenue when received in cash 

because they are generally not measurable until actually received.  Investment earnings are recorded as earned since they are 

measurable and available.  Cost reimbursement grant funds are considered to be both measurable and available to the extent the 

related expenditures were made under the provisions of the grant. When such funds are received before the expenditure was in-

curred, they are recorded as unearned grant revenues.  All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available only 

when cash is received by the School District. 
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Proprietary, trust, and agency fund financial statements use the economic resources measurement focus and are reported using the 

accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, 

regardless of when the related cash flows take place.  Revenue from grants, entitlements, and donations is recognized in the fiscal 

year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied.  

 

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.  Operating revenues and expenses gen-

erally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongo-

ing operations.  The principal operating revenues of the dental self-insurance health insurance internal service funds is charges to 

employees and the School District for services.  Operating expenses for the internal service fund include the cost of dental care, 

services and administrative expenses.  All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating reve-

nues and expenses.  

 

GASB Statement No. 34 requires the general fund be reported as a major fund and that only one general fund be reported. As 

such, the elementary and high school general funds have been combined and are reported as one major fund.  Other individual 

governmental funds should be reported in separate columns as major funds based on these criteria: 

 

• Total assets, liabilities, revenues, or expenditures of that individual governmental fund are at least 10% of the correspond-

ing total (assets, liabilities, etc.) for all funds of that category or type (e.g., total governmental funds). 

 

In addition to funds that meet the major fund criteria, any other governmental fund that government officials believe is particular-

ly important to financial statement users may be reported as a major fund. 

 

The School District reports the following major governmental funds: 

 

• General Fund – The General Fund is the general operating fund of the School District and accounts for all revenues and 

expenditures of the School District not encompassed within other funds.  All general tax revenues and other receipts that 

are not allocated by law or contractual agreement to some other fund are accounted for in this fund.  General operating 

expenditures and the capital improvement costs that are not paid through other funds are paid from the General Fund. In 

the governmental fund financial statements, the general fund also includes the activities of the elementary and high school 

metal mines tax reserve, and the elementary and high school flexibility funds since the restrictions on those funds are sim-

ilar to the general fund. 

 

• Elementary Miscellaneous Fund – This fund is used to account for local, state, or federal grants and reimbursements. Do-

nations that allow the expenditure of both principal and interest for support of School District programs are deposited in 

this fund.  

 

• Interlocal Agreement Fund – This fund is used to account for the Technology services provided to other school districts or 

cooperatives, curriculum purchases, the Construction Academy, and EOCM activities. 

 

1. b. 3. OTHER FUND TYPES 

 

Internal Service Funds – This fund account for the financing of goods or services provided by one department to other depart-

ments of the School District, or to other governments, on a cost reimbursement basis.  The fund includes a dental self-insurance 

health insurance fund. Because all of the services predominately benefit governmental rather than business type functions, they 

are included with governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. 

 

Private-Purpose Trust Funds – These funds account for the receipt and disbursement of monies from student activity organiza-

tions, as well as any donated scholarship funds.  These organizations exist with the explicit approval of and are subject to revoca-

tion by the School District’s Board of Trustees.  This accounting reflects the School District’s trust relationship with the student 

activity organizations and any scholarship commitments. 

 

Agency Funds – These funds account for assets that the School District holds on behalf of others as their agent and for warrants 

written but not redeemed that are reported in the School District’s payroll and claims clearing funds and employee payroll tax 

withholdings.  Cash is held for warrants which were written but have not been paid by the County Treasurer.  A warrant is an 

order by which the drawer (the person with authority to make the order) directs the School District trustee to pay a particular sum 

of money to a payee (person or entity) from funds in the School District treasury which are or may become available.   

 

1. c. ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION (FUND BALANCE) 

 

1. c. 1 CASH AND INVESTMENTS 
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Allowable Depositories – Cash includes amounts in demand deposits, as well as short-term investments as authorized by State of 

Montana statutes.  Montana Code Annotated (MCA) allows Montana local governments to invest public money not necessary for 

immediate use in:  

 

• United States government treasury bills, notes, or bonds  

• Certain United States treasury obligations 

• United States government security money market fund, if investments consist of those listed above 

• Time or savings deposits with a bank or credit union which is Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or National 

Credit Union Association insured  

• Repurchase agreements as authorized by MCA  

• State of Montana Short-Term Investment Pool (STIP)   

 

Interest earned on the pooled investments is distributed to each contributing entity and fund on a pro rata basis.  Investments 

are recorded at fair market value. 

 

County Investment Pool Collateral – Information regarding the collateral and security for cash held by the County is not available 

to the School District. However, State of Montana statute requires that United State government securities or agencies be held as 

collateral to secure deposits of public funds in excess of FDIC insurance.  The external investment pool is audited as part of Fer-

gus County’s financial statements.  This investment pool is not registered with or monitored by the Securities and Exchange 

Commission (SEC). 

 

Cash Flow Statement – For purposes of the Statement of Cash flows, the School District considers all highly liquid investments 

with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

 

Cash Overdrafts – Cash overdrafts reported in the fund statements are classified as current liabilities in the governmental fund 

statements.  The cash overdrafts are eliminated in the governmental activities columns of the statement of net position.  The cash 

overdraft appears on the fund statements when cash in the fund is overdrawn and the fund is borrowing money from another fund 

without displaying an interfund receivable and payable on the financial statements. 

 

1. c. 2. TAXES 

 

Property tax levies are set in connection with the budget process and are based on taxable values listed as of January 1 for all 

property located in the School District. Taxable values are established by the State of Montana Department of Revenue based on 

market values. A revaluation of all property is required to be completed on a periodic basis. Taxable value is defined by State 

statute as a fixed percentage of market value. 

 

Property taxes are collected by the County Treasurer, who credits to the School District funds its respective share of the collec-

tions.  The tax levies are collectible in two installments, which become delinquent after November 30 and May 31.  Property 

taxes are liens upon the property being taxed.  After a period of three years, the County may begin foreclosure proceedings and 

sell the property at auction.  The School District receives its share of the sale proceeds of any such auction. 

 

Taxes that become delinquent are charged interest at the rate of 0.83% per month plus a penalty of 2%. After a period of three 

years, the County may begin foreclosure proceedings and sell real property at auction.  In the case of personal property, the prop-

erty may be seized and sold after the taxes become delinquent. 

 

1. c. 3. INVENTORIES 

 

Food inventory, and supplies inventory are carried in an inventory account at average cost and are subsequently charged to ex-

penditures when consumed (using the consumption method).   

 

1. c. 4. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

The School District’s property, plant, and equipment are stated at historical cost and comprehensively reported in the govern-

ment-wide financial statements.  Historical cost was established when the capital assets were initially recorded by determining 

the actual cost or estimating the cost using standard costing procedures.  The School District considers capital assets to be items 

in excess of $5,000 with a useful life in excess of one year.  The costs of normal maintenance and repair are not capitalized.  De-

preciation on capital assets is provided over their estimated useful lives on the straight-line method.  Land and construction in 

progress are not depreciated. The useful life of depreciable assets has been estimated as follows: 
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Capital Asset Classes Useful Life 

Buildings 7 – 50 years 

Improvements other than buildings 20 years 

Machinery and Equipment 5 – 25 years 

 

1. c. 5. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS/ INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for Deferred Outflows of Resources. This sepa-

rate financial statement element represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period(s) and, as such, will not 

be recognized as an outflow of resources (e.g., expense/expenditure) until that time.  

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position reports a separate section for Deferred Inflows of Resources. This 

separate financial statement element represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and, as such, will 

not be recognized as an inflow of resources (e.g., revenue) until that time.  

 

Pension Liability– Deferred outflow/inflow – The School District recognizes a net pension liability for each qualified pension 

plan in which it participates.  Changes in the net pension liability during the fiscal year are recorded as pension expense, deferred 

inflows of resources, or deferred outflows of resources depending on the nature of the change and the period incurred. Those 

changes in net pension liability that are recorded as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources that arise 

from changes in actuarial assumptions or other inputs and differences between expected or actual experience are amortized over 

the weighted average remaining service life of all participants in the respective qualified pension plan and recorded as a compo-

nent of pension expense beginning with the period in which they are incurred. Projected earnings on qualified pension plan in-

vestments are recognized as a component of pension expense. Differences between projected and actual investment earnings are 

reported as deferred inflows of resources or deferred outflows of resources and amortized as a component of pension expense. 

 

Property Taxes – Deferred inflows – The School District reports deferred inflows under the modified accrual basis of accounting 

in the governmental funds for property taxes.  These amounts are deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period 

the amounts become available.  In the governmental fund balance sheet, they are reported as unavailable from property taxes 

receivable.  

 

1. c. 6. VACATION AND SICK LEAVE 

 

Classified School District employees accumulate vacation and sick leave for later use or for payment upon termination, death, or 

retirement.  Classified School District employees earn vacation leave at the rate of 15 days per year during the first 10 years of 

employment, and at increasing rates thereafter to a maximum of 24 days per year after 20 years of employment.  There is no re-

quirement that vacation leave be taken, but the maximum permissible accumulation is the amount earned in the most recent two-

year period.  At termination, employees are paid for any accumulated vacation leave at the current rate of pay.  Classified School 

District employees earn sick leave at the rate of one day per month.  There is no limit on the accumulation of unused sick leave.  

At termination, only 25% of accumulated sick leave is paid at the employee’s current rate of pay.  

 

Certified School District employees shall accrue 10 days of discretionary leave at the beginning of each year.  Unused discretion-

ary leave will be accumulated to 160 days per employee.  After eight consecutive year of employment with the School District, 

certified employees who terminate employment shall be paid a lump of 30% of their accumulated discretionary leave at their 

current rate of pay. 

 

Liabilities incurred because of unused vacation and sick leave accumulated by employees are reflected in the financial state-

ments.  Expenditures for unused leave are recorded when paid in governmental funds and when accrued on the statement of ac-

tivities.  The amount expected to be paid within one year is $56,385 and it is generally paid out of the general fund.   

 

1. c. 7. NET POSITION AND FUND BALANCE 

  

The Statement of Net Position includes the following:   

 

• Net Investment in Capital Assets – This component of net position reports the difference between capital assets less both 

the accumulated depreciation and the outstanding balance of debt that is directly attributable to the acquisition, construc-

tion, or improvement of these capital assets.   

• Restricted – This component of net position is restricted either externally by creditors (e.g., debt covenants), grantors, 

contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments or imposed by law through constitutional provisions or enabling 

legislation.  
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• Unrestricted – This component of net position is difference between the assets and liabilities that are not reported in the 

other components of net position. 

 

Governmental fund financial statements include the following fund balances:   

 

• Non-spendable – This balance includes amounts that cannot be spent either because they are not in a spendable form or 

because of legal or contractual constraints.   

• Restricted – This balance includes amounts that can be spent only for the specific purposes stipulated by the constitution, 

external resource providers, or through enabling legislation.   

• Unassigned – This balance includes amounts that are available for any purpose. These amounts are reported only in the 

general fund or funds that have negative fund balances. 

 

As of June 30, 2018, fund balance components other than unassigned fund balance consist of the following: 

 

Purpose Non-spendable Restricted 

Instructional and Support Services $ 0 $ 700,894 

Operations and Maintenance  0  19,329 

Student Transportation  0  238,693 

School Food  42,659  0 

Third Party Grantor Restrictions  0  864,131 

Employer Retirement Benefits  0  398,002 

Future Technology  0  200,474 

Future Capital Costs  0  1,645,322 

Debt Service  0  4,165 

Total $ 42,659 $ 4,071,010 

   

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance are available, the School 

District considers restricted funds to have been spent first.   

 

1. d. OTHER 

 

1. d. 1. USE OF ESTIMATES 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 

affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial state-

ments, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those 

estimates. 

 

1. d. 2. COUNTY PROVIDED SERVICES 

 

The School District is provided various financial services by County. The County also serves as cashier and treasurer for the 

School District for tax and assessment collections and other revenues received by the County which are subject to distribution to 

the various taxing jurisdictions located in the County. The collections made by the County on behalf of the School District are 

accounted for in an agency fund in the School District’s name. No service charges have been recorded by the School District or 

the County. 

 

 

NOTE 2. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS 

 

At June 30, 2018, the summary of cash, cash equivalents for governmental and fiduciary funds is as follows: 

 

Account Type 

Governmental 

Activities 

Fiduciary 

Funds Total 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 5,390,922 $ 1,131,658 $ 6,522,580 
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The carrying amount of cash on hand, deposits, and investments at June 30, 2018, is as follows: 

 

 Amount 

Demand Accounts $ 265,624 

County Investment Pool  6,256,956 

Total $ 6,522,580 

  

County Investment Pool – Cash resources of the School District are held and managed by the County Treasurer pursuant to State 

Law.  They are combined with cash resources of other governmental entities within County to form a pool of cash and cash 

equivalents.  Investments of pooled cash consist primarily of repurchase agreements, U.S. government securities, STIP, money 

market accounts, and certificates of deposit and are carried at fair value.  The School District’s exposure to credit risk is not 

available to the School District.  Risk in the event of loss is unclear in state law, but appears to be the liability of the County gov-

ernment. Because of the custodial involvement of the County government, and the commingling of cash in County deposits in the 

name of the County Treasurer, full risk classifications are available in the County’s annual report. There is no known maturity 

and credit rating of the County Investment Pool. 

 

Custodial Credit Risk – Deposits – The cash of the extracurricular funds and internal service fund is held separately by the 

School District and, consequently, the deposits may be subject to custodial credit risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the 

event of a bank failure, the School District’s deposits may not be returned. The School District does not have a deposit policy for 

custodial credit risk.  As of June 30, 2018, the deposits in the extracurricular fund and internal service fund were covered by 

FDIC insurance.   

 

 

NOTE 3. TAXES RECEIVABLE 

 

The School District is permitted by State statutes to levy taxes up to certain fixed limits for various purposes.  The assessed value 

of the roll as of January 1, 2017, upon which the levy for the 2018 fiscal year was based, was $12,818,032 for the Elementary 

School District and $13,941,741 for the High School District.  The tax rates assessed for the year ended June 30, 2018 to finance 

School District operations and applicable taxes receivable for the elementary and high schools follows: 

 

Fund Mill Levies  

Taxes 

Receivable 

Elementary    

General*  147.55  $ 69,704 

Transportation  30.86   14,333 

Bus Depreciation  5.22   2,260 

Tuition  6.70   2,996 

Technology  4.80   2,297 

Debt Service     561 

Building Reserve  7.65   3,607 

High School    

General*  74.94   37,268 

Transportation  11.34   5,524 

Bus Depreciation  14.79   6,810 

Tuition  2.40   1,202 

Adult Education  6.80   3,342 

Technology  3.89   1,945 

Building Reserve  7.03   3,466 

Total  323.97  $ 155,315 

*  Denotes Major Funds    

    

Property taxes fees assessed may be paid under protest and held by the county treasurer until the action is finally determined to be 

in favor or against the governmental entity levying the tax.  Money paid under protest is accounted for by the county in a protest-

ed tax agency fund until the final determination.  The amount reported above includes $1,167 of taxes paid under protest. 
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NOTE 4. OTHER ASSETS 

 

4. a. DUE FROM OTHER GOVERNMENTS 

 

Due from other governments represent amounts due to the School District for costs incurred but not reimbursed by third party 

grantors. The amounts reported and the organization due from are noted below: 

 

Fund Amount Due From Reason 

Elementary    

Miscellaneous* $ 62,517 State of MT Title I grant 

Miscellaneous*   9,207 State of MT Title I grant 

High School      

Traffic Education  6,210 State of MT Driver Education reimbursement  

Total $ 77,934   

*  Denotes Major Funds    

 

 

NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS, DEPRECIATION, AND NET CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

5. a. GENERAL CAPITAL ASSETS 

 

At June 30, 2018, the schedule of changes in general capital assets follows: 

 

Governmental Activities: 
Balance 

July 1, 2017 Additions Deletions 

Adjustments/ 

Transfers 

Balance 

June 30, 2018 

Non-depreciable:      

Land $ 590,530 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 590,530 

Construction in progress  240,153  0  0  (240,153)  0 

Total Non-depreciable  830,683 $ 0  0  (240,153)  590,530 

      

Depreciable:      

Buildings  12,083,607  606,703  0  240,153  12,930,463 

Improvements other than 

buildings  1,363,720  47,682  0  0  1,411,402 

Machinery and equipment  3,645,589  440,868  (193,250)  0  3,893,207 

Total Depreciable  17,092,916  1,095,253  (193,250)  240,153  18,235,072 

      

Accumulated Depreciation:      

Buildings  (7,029,695)  (335,893)  0  (53,894)  (7,419,482) 

Improvements other than 

buildings  (923,218)  (42,926)  0  (2,385)  (968,529) 

Machinery and equipment  (2,616,521)  (233,250)  193,250  (57,264)  (2,713,785) 

Total Depreciation  (10,569,434)  (612,069)  193,250  (113,543)  (11,101,796) 

      

Net Depreciable Assets  6,523,482  483,184  0  126,610  7,133,276 

Net General Capital Assets  $ 7,354,165 $ 483,184 $ 0 $ (113,543) $ 7,723,806 

      

General capital asset depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows: 

 

Function Amount 

Instructional $ 10,477 

Media  6,198 

School Administration  7,053 

Operation & Maintenance  288,676 

Transportation  195,889 

School Food  8,612 

Extracurricular  7,432 

Unallocated  87,732 

Total Depreciation Expense $ 612,069 
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NOTE 6. CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

Current liabilities represent amounts due to creditors, suppliers, or others within a period of time less than one year. 

 

6. a. OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES 

 

Fund Amount Due To Reason 

Elementary    

Miscellaneous* $ 6,356 MT TRS Retiree health & dental payment 

*  Denotes Major Funds    

 

6. b.  UNEARNED INCOME 

 

The amount displayed on the financial statements as unearned income, $14,632, relates to students who have prepaid for school 

lunch meals. 

 

 

NOTE 7. CHANGES IN LONG-TERM DEBT 

 

7. a. At June 30, 2018, the schedule of changes in general long-term debt follows: 

 

Governmental Activities: 

Balance 

July 1, 2017 

New Debt 

and Other 

Additions 

Principal 

Payments 

and Other 

Reductions 

Balance 

June 30, 

2018 

Due within 

One Year 

Other Liabilities:      

Compensated Absences $ 507,703 $ 0 $ (11,666) $ 496,037 $ 56,385 

Retirement Incentive   116,000  12,000  (62,000)  66,000  55,000 

Accrued Pension   10,490,763  237,857  (604,947)  10,123,673  0 

Other Post-Employment  

Benefits (OPEB)  1,392,046  2,677,408  0  4,069,454  0 

Total Other Liabilities  12,506,512  2,927,265  (678,613)  14,755,164  111,385 

Total Governmental 

 Activities - Long-Term Debt: $ 12,506,512 $ 2,927,265 $ (678,613) $ 14,755,164 $ 111,385 

      

7. b. RETIREMENT INCENTIVE 

 

The School District offered certified teachers a one-time incentive to retire as of June 30, 2016 and 2017.  The incentive offered 

$500 per month for each teacher who accepted the offer, for a period of 36 months for a total liability of $18,000 per teacher.  An 

incentive was offered during fiscal year ended June 30,2018 in the amount of $12,000.  The changes in the retirement incentive 

liability are noted below 

 

Description 

Issue 

Date 

Length of 

Loan 

Maturity 

Date 

Amount 

Issued 

Outstanding 

June 30, 

2018 

Retirement Incentive Sept 2016 3 years 8/15/2019  72,000  24,000 

Retirement Incentive Sept 2017 3 years 8/15/2020  60,000  30,000 

Retirement Incentive Sept 2018 3 years 8/15/2021  12,000  12,000 

    $ 144,000 $ 66,000 

      

Debt service requirements to maturity for principal on the retirement incentive long term obligations are as follows: 

For the year 

ended June 30: 

 

Elementary 

Principal 

High School 

Principal 

2019 $ 40,000 $ 15,000 

2020  5,000  6,000 

Totals $ 45,000 $ 21,000 
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NOTE 8.  DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES 

 

8. a. PROPERTY TAXES  

 

Fund Amount Reason 

Elementary   

General* $ 69,704 Taxes Receivable 

Transportation  14,333 Taxes Receivable 

Bus Depreciation  2,260 Taxes Receivable 

Tuition  2,996 Taxes Receivable 

Technology  2,297 Taxes Receivable 

Debt Service  561 Taxes Receivable 

Building Reserve  3,607 Taxes Receivable 

High School    

General*  37,268 Taxes Receivable 

Transportation  5,524 Taxes Receivable 

Bus Depreciation  6,810 Taxes Receivable 

Tuition  1,202 Taxes Receivable 

Adult Education  3,342 Taxes Receivable 

Technology  1,945 Taxes Receivable 

Building Reserve  3,466 Taxes Receivable 

Total $ 155,315  

*  Denotes Major Funds   

 

 

NOTE 9. DEFICIT FUND BALANCES 

 

Deficit fund balance result from commitments exceeding the resources.  The following is a listing of deficit fund balances. 

 

Fund Amount How School District plans to correct 

Elementary   

Tuition $ 1,352 Receipt of delinquent taxes 

School Food Service  1,530 Future collections 

Total $ 2,882  

*  Denotes Major Funds   

 

 

NOTE 10.   PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENTS 

 

Fund 

Governmen-

tal  

Funds 

Reason 

High School   

Traffic Education $ 293 Additional State revenue 

*  Denotes Major Funds   

   

Governmental Type Activities  (113,543) Update capital assets schedule 

Governmental Type Activities  (2,677,408) Implementation of GASB 75 

Total $ (2,790,658)  

 

 

NOTE 11. INTERFUND OPERATING TRANSFERS IN/OUT 

 

Operating Fund - In Amount Operating Fund - Out Purpose of Transfer 

High School  Elementary  

Interlocal Agreement* $ 87,499 General* Maintenance, curriculum, and general 

High School   High School   

Interlocal Agreement*  135,526 General* Maintenance, curriculum, and general 

Total $ 223,025   

*  Denotes Major Funds    
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NOTE 12. OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS 

 

The School District implemented GASB 75 Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pen-

sions during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.   

 

Plan Description - The School District provides the same health care plan to all of its members.  The School District had more 

than 100 plan participants and thus hired an actuarial valuation to determine the OPEB liability.  Valuations involve estimates of 

the reported amounts and assumptions about the probability of events far into the future and estimated amounts are subject to 

continued revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future.  Projec-

tions of benefits for the plan are based on types of benefits provided under the current plan.  The valuation assumed that 45% of 

plan participants would elect to continue coverage after retirement.   

 

Funding Policy - The government pays OPEB liabilities on a pay as you go basis.  The trust fund for future liabilities has not 

been established. 

 

Benefits Provided – The School District provides healthcare benefits for retirees and their dependents.  Retirees are required to 

pay 100% of the health insurance premium to retain the healthcare benefits.  The School District covers 100% of the premiums 

for active employees. 

 

Employees covered by benefit terms.  At June 30, 2018, the following employees were covered by the benefit terms: 

 

Active employees  162 

 

Total OPEB Liability 

 

The School District’s total OPEB liability of $4,069,454 was measured as of June 30, 2018 and was determined by an actuarial 

valuation as of that date. 

 

Actuarial assumptions and other inputs.  The total OPEB liability in the June 30, 2018 actuarial valuation was determined using 

the following actuarial assumptions and other inputs, applied to all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise speci-

fied: 

 

Salary increases    4.00% 

Discount rate     3.87% 

 

Health care cost rate trend  

Year    % Increase 

2019   7.60% 

2020   7.20% 

2021    6.50% 

2022   6.00% 

2023   5.90% 

2024 and after   5.70% 

 

Retiree’s share of benefit related costs  100% 

 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

 

Balance at June 30, 2017 $ 1,392,046 

  

Changes for the year:  

Service cost  263,917 

Interest  160,658 

Changes of benefit terms  0 

Changes in assumptions or other inputs  2,330,713 

Benefit payments  (77,880) 

Net Changes – GASB 75 implementation  2,677,408 

Balance at June 30, 2018 $ 4,069,454 
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Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the discount rate.  The following presents the total OPEB liability of the 

School District, as well as what the School District’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that 

is 1-percentage-point lower (%) or 1-percentage-point higher (%) than the current discount rate: 

 

 1% Decrease 

(2.87%) 

 

Discount Rate 

(3.87%) 

1% Increase 

(4.87%) 

Total OPEB Liability $ 4,897,554 $ 4,069,454 $ 3,423,509 

    

Sensitivity of the total OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend rates.  The following presents the total OPEB liabil-

ity of the School District, as well as what the School District’s total OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using 

healthcare cost trend rates that are 1-percentage-point lower (% decreasing to %) or 1-percentage-point higher (% decreasing to 

%) than the current healthcare cost trend rates: 

 

 1% Decrease 

 

Trend Rate  1% Increase 

Total OPEB Liability $ 3,329,287 $ 4,069,454 $ 5,051,368 

    

The School District did not have deferred outflows or inflows of resources associated with the OPEB liability. 

 

 

NOTE 13. RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

The School District is exposed to various types of risk of loss, including: a) damage to and loss of property and contents; b) em-

ployee torts; c) professional liability, e.g., errors and omissions; d) environmental damage; e) workers’ compensation, e.g., em-

ployee injuries and f) medical insurance costs of employees.  Several methods are used to provide insurance for these risks.  

Commercial policies, transferring all risks of loss, except for relatively small deductible amounts, are purchased for property and 

contents damage, employee torts, professional liabilities, and employee medical insurance.  The School District has joined with 

other School Districts throughout the state into an interlocal common risk pool to insure workers’ compensation for all participat-

ing School Districts in a self-insurance pool.  The Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program is managed by a board of 

directors elected annually.  Members are responsible for fully funding the Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program 

through the payment of annual premiums accessed.  There is no other liability to the School District other than timely payments 

of premiums.  The School District can withdraw from the Workers Compensation Risk Retention Program with 60 days’ notice at 

any time.  The School District has no coverage for potential losses from environmental damages. 

 

Levels of insurance have not changed materially from the prior year and settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage limits 

during the current or each of the two previous years. 

 

 

NOTE 14. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

The School District participates in two state-wide, cost-sharing multiple employer defined benefit retirement plans which cover 

all School District employees, except certain substitute teachers and part-time, non-teaching employees.  The Teachers’ Retire-

ment System (TRS) covers teaching employees, including administrators and aides.  The Public Employee Retirement System 

(PERS) covers nonteaching employees.  The plans are established under State law and are administered by the State of Montana. 

 

Both plans issue publicly available annual reports, stand-alone financial statements, actuarial valuations, experience studies, and 

plan audited financial statements.  Those reports may be obtained from the following: 

 

Teachers Retirement System Public Employees Retirement System 

P.O. Box 200139 P.O. Box 200131 

1500 Sixth Avenue 100 N. Park Avenue Suite 200 

Helena, MT  59620-0139 Helena, MT  59620-0131 

Phone:  406-444-3134 Phone:  406-444-3154 

www.trs.mt.gov www.mpera.mt.gov 
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14. a. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES OF RETIREMENT SYSTEMS  

 

The Montana Public Employee Retirement Administration (MPERA) and the TRS prepare their financial statements using the 

accrual basis of accounting.  For the purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred inflows of resources and deferred 

outflows of resources related to pensions, pension expense, and information about the fiduciary net position and additions to and 

deductions from fiduciary net position have been determined on the same accrual basis as they are reported by MPERA and TRS. 

For this purpose, member contributions are recognized in the period in which contributions are due. Employer contributions are 

recognized when due and the employer has made a formal commitment to provide the contributions. Revenues are recognized in 

the accounting period they are earned and become measurable. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized in the accounting 

period when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Expenses are recognized in the period incurred. 

 

Investments are reported at fair value. MPERA and TRS adhere to all applicable GASB statements. 

 

14. b. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

The PERS-Defined Benefit Retirement Plan (Defined Benefit plan), administered by the MPERA, is a multiple-employer, cost-

sharing plan established July 1, 1945 and is governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA. This plan covers the state, local gov-

ernments, certain employees of the Montana University System, and school districts. 

 

All new members are initially members of the Defined Benefit plan and have a 12-month window during which they may choose 

to remain in the Defined Benefit Plan or join the PERS-Defined Contribution Retirement Plan (Defined Contribution plan) by 

filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be members of both the Defined Benefit and Defined Contribution retirement 

plans.  

 

The Defined Benefit provides retirement, disability, and death benefits to plan members and their beneficiaries. Benefits are es-

tablished by state law and can only be amended by the Legislature.  

 

14. b. 1. SUMMARY OF BENEFITS 

 

Eligibility for benefits 

 

Service Retirement: 

 
• Hired prior to July 1, 2011: 

o Age 60, 5 years of membership service;  

o Age 65, regardless of membership service; or  

o Any age, 30 years of membership service. 

• Hired on or after July 1, 2011: 

o Age 65, 5 years of membership service; or 

o Age 70, regardless of membership service. 

 

Early Retirement:  

(actuarially reduced) 

 

• Hired prior to July 1, 2011: 

o Age 50, 5 years of membership service; or  

o Any age, 25 years of membership service. 

• Hired on or after July 1, 2011: 

o Age 55, 5 years of membership service. 

 

Second Retirement: 

(requires returning to 

PERS-covered  

employer or PERS 

service) 

 

• Retire before January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 2 years additional ser-

vice credit or retire on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate less than 5 

years additional service credit: 

o A refund of member’s contributions plus return interest (currently 

.77% effective July 1, 2017); 

o No service credit for second employment; 

o Start the same benefit amount the month following termination; and 

o Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA) starts again in the 

January immediately following the second retirement. 

• Retire before January 1, 2016 and accumulate at least 2 years additional service 

credit: 

o A recalculated retirement benefit based on provision in effect after 

the initial retirement; and 

o GABA starts on the recalculation benefit in the January after receiv-

ing the new benefit for 12 months. 
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• Retire on or after January 1, 2016 and accumulate 5 or more years additional 

service credit: 

o The same retirement as prior to the return to service; 

o A second retirement benefit as prior to the second period of service 

based on laws in effect upon the rehire date; and  

o GABA starts on both benefits in the January after receiving the orig-

inal and the new benefit for 12 months. 

Vesting:  5 years of membership service 

Member’s Highest 

Average  

Compensation (HAC): 

• Hired prior to July 1, 2011:   

o HAC during any consecutive 36 months. 

• Hired on or after July 1, 2011: 

o HAC during any consecutive 60 months. 

Compensation Cap: 

 
• Hired on or after July 1, 2013:  

o 110% annual cap on compensation considered as part of a member’s 

HAC. 

Monthly Benefit  

Formula: 

 

• Hired prior to July 1, 2011:   

o Less than 25 years of membership service - 1.785% of HAC per year 

of service credit; or  

o 25 years of membership service or more - 2% of HAC per year of 

service credit. 

• Hired on or after July 1, 2011: 

o Less than 10 years of membership service - 1.5% of HAC per year of 

service credit;  

o 10 years or more, but less than 30 years of membership service - 

1.785% of HAC per year of service credit; or 

o 30 years or more of membership service - 2% of HAC per year of 

service credit. 

Guaranteed Annual 

Benefit Adjustment: 

 

After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member’s benefit 

increases by the following percentage each January, inclusive of other adjustments 

to the member’s benefit: 

 

• 3% for members hired prior to July 1, 2007 

• 1.5% for members hired between July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013 

• Members hired on or after July 1, 2013: 

o 1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%; 

o 1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; 

and 

o 0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more. 

  

14. b. 2. OVERVIEW OF CONTRIBUTIONS 

 

Member and employer contribution rates are specified by state law and are a percentage of the member’s compensation. Contri-

butions are deducted from each member’s salary and remitted by participating employers. The state Legislature has the authority 

to establish and amend contribution rates. Member and employer contribution rates are shown in the table below. 

 

 Member 

State & 

Universities Local Government School Districts 

Fiscal  Year 

Hired 

<07/01/11 

Hired 

>07/01/11 Employer Employer State Employer State 

2018 7.900% 7.900% 8.570% 8.470% 0.100% 8.200% 0.370% 

2017 7.900% 7.900% 8.470% 8.370% 0.100% 8.100% 0.370% 

2016 7.900% 7.900% 8.370% 8.270% 0.100% 8.000% 0.370% 

2015 7.900% 7.900% 8.270% 8.170% 0.100% 7.900% 0.370% 

2014 7.900% 7.900% 8.170% 8.070% 0.100% 7.800% 0.370% 

2012-2013 6.900% 7.900% 7.170% 7.070% 0.100% 6.800% 0.370% 

2010-2011 6.900%  7.170% 7.070% 0.100% 6.800% 0.370% 

2008-2009 6.900%  7.035% 6.935% 0.100% 6.800% 0.235% 

2000-2007 6.900%  6.900% 6.800% 0.100% 6.800% 0.100% 
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1. Member contributions to the system of 7.9% are temporary and will be decreased to 6.9% on January 1 following actuary 

valuation results that show the amortization period has dropped below 25 years and would remain below 25 years following 

the reduction of both the additional employer and additional member contribution rates. 

 

2. Employer contributions to the system: 

a. Effective July 1, 2014, following the 2013 Legislative Session, PERS-employer contributions increase an additional 

0.1% a year and will continue over 10 years through 2024. The additional employer contributions, including the 0.27% 

added in 2007 and 2009, will terminate on January 1 following an actuary valuation that shows the amortization period 

has dropped below 25 years and would remain below the 25 years following the reduction of both the additional em-

ployer and additional member contributions rates. 

b. Effective July 1, 2013, employers are required to make contributions on working retirees’ compensation. Member con-

tributions for working retirees are not required. 

 

3. Non-Employer Contributions: 

a. Special Funding 

i. The State contributed 0.1% of members’ compensation on behalf of local government entities. 

ii. The State contributed 0.37% of members’ compensation on behalf of school district entities. 

b. Not Special Funding 

i. The State contributed a portion of Coal Severance Tax income and earnings from the Coal Severance Tax fund. 

 

14. b. 3. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS  

 

The Total Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability (NPL) was determined by taking the results of the 

June 30, 2016 actuarial valuation and applying standard roll forward procedures to update the TPL to June 30, 2017. There were 

several significant assumptions and other inputs used to measure the TPL. The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017 

valuation were based on the results of the last actuarial experience study, dated May 2017, for the six-year period July 1, 2010 to 

June 30, 2016. Among those assumptions were the following: 

 

• Investment Return (net of admin expenses) 7.65% 

• Admin Expense as % of Payroll 0.26% 

• General Wage Growth (includes inflation at 2.75%) 3.50% 

• Merit Increases 0% to 6.3% 

• Postretirement Benefit Increases: 

o GABA. After the member has completed 12 full months of retirement, the member’s benefit increases by 

the following percentage each January, inclusive of all other adjustments to the member’s benefit: 

▪ 3% for members hired prior to July 1, 2007 

▪ 1.5% for members hired between July 1, 2007 and June 30, 2013 

▪ Members hired on or after July 1, 2013: 

− 1.5% for each year PERS is funded at or above 90%; 

− 1.5% is reduced by 0.1% for each 2% PERS is funded below 90%; and 

− 0% whenever the amortization period for PERS is 40 years or more. 

• Mortality assumptions among contributing members and service retired members and beneficiaries were based on 

RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Tables projected to 2020 with scale BB, males set back 1 

year. 

• Mortality assumptions among disabled members are based on RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortali-

ty Tables with no projections.  

 

14. b. 4. DISCOUNT RATE  

 

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.65%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 

that contributions from participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities would be made based on 

the Board’s funding policy, which established the contractually required rates under MCA. The State contributed 0.1% of salaries 

for local governments and 0.37% for school districts. In addition, the State contributed coal severance tax and interest money 

from the general fund. The interest was contributed monthly and the severance tax was contributed quarterly. Based on those 

assumptions, the Plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of 

current plan members through the year 2121. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 

applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. A municipal bond rate was not incorporated in the 

discount rate. 
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14. b. 5. TARGET ALLOCATIONS 

 

The long-term expected return on pension plan assets was reviewed as part of the regular experience study prepared for the Plan. 

The most recent analysis, performed for the period of July 1, 2010 to June 30, 2016, was outlined in a report dated May 2017 and 

can be located on the MPERA website. The long-term rate of return on pension plan investments was determined by considering 

information from various sources, including historical rates of return, rate of return assumptions adopted by similar public sector 

systems, and by using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected 

returns, net of pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges were com-

bined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset 

allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. Best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset class 

included in the target asset allocations as of June 30, 2017 are summarized below. 

 

Asset Class 

Target Asset 

Allocation 

Real Rate of Return 

Arithmetic Basis 

Long-Term  

Expected Real 

Rate of Return 

 (a) (b) (a) x (b) 

Cash Equivalents 2.60% 4.00% 0.10% 

Domestic Equity 36.00% 4.55% 1.64% 

Foreign Equity 18.00% 6.35% 1.14% 

Fixed Income 23.40% 1.00% 0.23% 

Private Equity 12.00% 7.75% 0.93% 

Real Estate 8.00% 4.00% 0.32% 

Total 100.00%  4.37% 

Inflation   2.75% 

Portfolio Return Expectation 7.12% 

  

The long-term expected nominal rate of return of 7.12% is an expected portfolio rate of return provided by Board of Investments, 

which differs from the total long-term assumed rate of return of 7.65% in the experience study. The assumed investment rate is 

comprised of a 2.75% inflation rate and a real rate of return of 4.90%.  

 

14. b. 6. DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN   

 

The School District contributed to the state of Montana Public Employee Retirement System Defined Contribution Retirement 

Plan (PERS-DCRP) for employees that have elected the DCRP. The PERS-DCRP is administered by the PERB and is reported as 

a multiple-employer plan established July 1, 2002, and governed by Title 19, chapters 2 & 3, MCA. 

 

All new PERS members are initially members of the PERS-DBRP and have a 12-month window during which they may choose 

to remain in the PERS-DBRP or join the PERS-DCRP by filing an irrevocable election. Members may not be participants of both 

the defined benefit and defined contribution retirement plans. 

 

Member and employer contribution rates are specified by state law and are a percentage of the member's compensation. Contri-

butions are deducted from each member's salary and remitted by participating employers. The state Legislature has the authority 

to establish and amend contribution rates. 

 

Benefits are dependent upon eligibility and individual account balances. Participants are vested immediately in their own contri-

butions and attributable income. Participants are vested after 5 years of membership service for the employer's contributions to 

individual accounts and the attributable income. Non-vested contributions are forfeited upon termination of employment per 19-

3-2117(5), MCA. Such forfeitures are used to cover the administrative expenses of the PERS-DCRP. 

 

At the plan level for the measurement period ended June 30, 2017, the PERS-DCRP employer did not recognize any net pension 

liability or pension expense for the defined contribution plan. Plan level non-vested forfeitures for the 300 employers that have 

participants in the PERS-DCRP totaled $396,650. 

 

14. c. TEACHERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

TRS is a mandatory-participation multiple-employer cost- sharing defined-benefit public pension plan that provides retirement 

services to individuals employed as teachers, administrators, and in other professional and skilled positions employed in public 

education in Montana. 
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The TRS Board is the governing body of the System and the TRS staff administers the system in conformity with the laws set 

forth in Title 19, chapter 20, MCA, and administrative rules set forth in Title 2, Chapter 44 of the Administrative Rules of Mon-

tana. 

 

14. c. 1. SUMMARY OF BENEFITS 

 

Through June 30, 2013, all members enrolled in TRS participated in a single-tiered plan (Tier One). Employees with a minimum 

of 25 years of service or who have reached age 60 with 5 years of service are eligible to receive an annual retirement benefit 

equal to creditable service years divided by 60 times the average final compensation (AFC). Final compensation is the average of 

the highest three consecutive years of earned compensation. Benefits fully vest after 5 years of creditable service. Vested em-

ployees may retire at or after age 50 and receive reduced retirement benefits. Beginning July 1, 2013, new members in TRS par-

ticipate in a second benefit tier (Tier Two), which differs from Tier One as follows: 

 

• Tier Two uses a 5-year AFC (as opposed to 3-year AFC in Tier One); 

• Tier Two provides for unreduced service retirement benefits at age 60 with 5 years of creditable service or at age 55 with at 

least 30 years of creditable service (rather than at age 60 with 5 years of service or at any age with creditable service in 25 

years in Tier One); 

• Tier Two provides for early retirement benefits with 5 years of creditable service at age 55 (rather than age 50 in Tier One); 

• Tier Two has a one percent higher normal employee contribution rate (though a temporary 1% supplemental employee con-

tribution rate is also now currently in place for Tier One members); and 

• Tier Two provides for an enhanced benefit calculation (1.85%  x AFC x years of creditable service) for members retiring 

with at least 30 years of creditable service and at least 60 years of age (rather than 1.6667 x AFC x years of creditable ser-

vice for Tier One). 
 
A GABA is payable on January 1st of each calendar year for each retiree who has received at least 36 monthly retirement benefit 

payments prior to that date. The GABA is applicable to both Tier One and Tier Two members. The GABA for Tier One members 

is 1.5% of the benefit payable as of January 1st. The GABA for Tier Two members may vary from 0.5% to 1.5% each year based 

on the retirement system’s funding status and the period required to amortize any unfunded accrued actuarial liability as deter-

mined in the prior actuarial valuation. 

 

14. c. 2. OVERVIEW OF CONTRIBUTIONS 
 

TRS (the System) receives a portion of the total required statutory contributions directly from the State for all employers. The 

employers are considered to be in a special funding situation as defined by GASB 68 and the State is treated as a non-employer 

contributing entity in TRS. The System receives 2.49% of reportable compensation from the State’s general fund for School Dis-

tricts and Other Employers. The System also receives 0.11% of reportable compensation from the State’s general fund for all 

TRS Employers including State Agency and University System Employers. Finally, the State is also required to contribute $25 

million in perpetuity payable July 1st of each year. 
 
The table below shows the legislated contribution rates for TRS members, employers, and the State 
 

 

Members Employers General fund 

Total employee 

and employer 

Prior to July 1, 2007 7.15% 7.47% 0.11% 14.73% 

July 1, 2007 to June 30, 2009 7.15% 7.47% 2.11% 16.73% 

July 1, 2009 to June 30, 2013 7.15% 7.47% 2.49% 17.11% 

July 1, 2013 to June 30, 2014 8.15% 8.47% 2.49% 19.11% 

July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2015 8.15% 8.57% 2.49% 19.21% 

July 1, 2015 to June 30, 2016 8.15% 8.67% 2.49% 19.31% 

July 1, 2016 to June 30, 2017 8.15% 8.77% 2.49% 19.41% 

July 1, 2017 to June 30, 2018 8.15% 8.87% 2.49% 19.51% 

July 1, 2018 to June 30, 2019 8.15% 8.97% 2.49% 19.61% 

July 1, 2019 to June 30, 2020 8.15% 9.07% 2.49% 19.71% 

July 1, 2020 to June 30, 2021 8.15% 9.17% 2.49% 19.81% 

July 1, 2021 to June 30, 2022 8.15% 9.27% 2.49% 19.91% 

July 1, 2022 to June 30, 2023 8.15% 9.37% 2.49% 20.01% 

July 1, 2023 to June 30, 2024 8.15% 9.47% 2.49% 20.11% 
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14. c. 3. ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS  
 
The TPL as of June 30, 2017 is based on the results of an actuarial valuation date of July 1, 2017. There were several significant 

assumptions and other inputs used to measure the TPL. The actuarial assumptions used in the July 1, 2017 valuation were based 

on the results of the last actuarial experience study, dated May 1, 2014. Among those assumptions were the following: 

 

Total Wage Increases:  

(includes 4.00% general wage increase assumption) 
• 4% to 8.51% for Non-University members  

• 5.00% for University members 

Investment Return: 7.75% 

Price Inflation: 3.25% 

Postretirement Benefit Increases: 

 
• Tier One. If the retiree has received benefits for at least 3 years, 

the retirement allowance will be increased by 1.5% on January 

1st. 

• Tier Two. The retirement allowance will be increased by an 

amount equal to or greater than 0.5% but no more than 1.5% if the 

most recent actuarial valuation shows the System to be at least 

90% funded and the provisions of the increase is not projected to 

cause the funded ratio to be less than 85%. 

Mortality:  

(among contributing members, service retired 

members, and beneficiaries) 

 

• Males. 1992 Base Rates from the RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant 

Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and 1992 Base Rates from 

the RP 2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ag-

es below 50, set back four years, with mortality improvements 

projected by Scale BB to 2018. 

• Females. 1992 Base Rates from the RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant 

Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and 1992 Base Rates from 

the RP 2000 Combined Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ag-

es below 50, set back two years, with mortality improvements 

projected by Scale BB to 2018. 

Mortality:  

(among disabled members) 

 

• Males. RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for males, set forward 

one year, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB to 

2018. 

• Females. RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for females, set for-

ward five years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale 

BB to 2018. 

  

14. c. 4. DISCOUNT RATE  
 
The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.75%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed 

that contributions from participating plan members, employers, and non-employer contributing entities will be made based on the 

Board’s funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rates under MCA. In addition to the contributions, the State 

general fund will contribute $25 million annually to the System payable July 1st of each year. Based on those assumptions, the 

System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be adequate to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan 

members through the year 2122. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all 

periods of projected benefit payments to determine the TPL. No municipal bond rate was incorporated in the discount rate. 

 

14. c. 5. TARGET ALLOCATIONS 

Asset Class 

Target Asset 

Allocation 

Real Rate of Return 

Arithmetic Basis 

Long-Term  

Expected Real 

Rate of Return* 

 (a) (b) (a) x (b) 

Broad US Equity 36.00% 4.80% 1.73% 

Broad International Equity 18.00% 6.05% 1.09% 

Private Equity 12.00% 8.50% 1.02% 

Intermediate Bonds 23.40% 1.50% 0.35% 

Core Real Estate 4.00% 4.50% 0.18% 

High Yield Bonds 2.60% 3.25% 0.08% 

Non-Core Real Estate 4.00% 7.50% 0.30% 

Total 100.00%  4.75% 

Inflation   3.25% 

Portfolio Return Expectation 8.00% 

  

47



LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued) 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 

 

37 

* The long-term expected nominal rate of return above of 8.00% differs from the total TRS long-term rate of return assumption 

of 7.75%.  The assumed rate is comprised of a 3.25% inflation rate and a real long-term expected rate of return of 4.50%. 

 

The assumed long-term expected return on pension plan assets is reviewed as part of the regular experience studies prepared for 

the System. The most recent analysis, performed for the period covering fiscal years 2009 through 2013, is outlined in a report 

dated May 1, 2014. Several factors are considered in evaluating the long-term rate of return assumption including long term his-

torical data, estimates inherent in current market data, and a log-normal distribution analysis in which best-estimate ranges of 

expected future real rates of return (expected return net of investment expense and inflation) were developed by the investment 

consultant for each major asset class. These ranges were combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting 

the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage and then adding expected inflation. The capital 

market assumptions developed by the investment consultant are intended for use over a 10-year horizon and may not be useful in 

setting the long-term rate of return for funding pension plans which covers a longer timeframe. The assumption is intended to be 

a long-term assumption and is not expected to change absent a significant change in the asset allocation, a change in the inflation 

assumption, or a fundamental change in the market that alters expected returns in future years. Best estimates of arithmetic real 

rates of return for each major asset class included in the System’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2017, is summarized in the 

above table. 

 

14. d. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS   

 

In accordance with GASB 68 regarding the disclosure of the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate, 

the below table presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.65% and 7.75% for PERS and TRS, re-

spectively, as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00% lower 

(6.65%) and (6.75) for PERS and TRS, respectively or 1.00% higher (8.65) and (8.75%) for PERS and TRS, respectively than the 

current rate. 

 

As of measurement date 
1.0% Decrease 

(6.65%) 

Current  

Discount Rate 

1.0% Increase 

(8.65%) 

PERS    

Net Pension Liability $ 2,836,551,371 $ 1,947,626,401 $ 1,201,441,171 

School District’s Net Pension Liability $ 3,855,793 $ 2,647,456 $ 1,633,148 

    

As of measurement date 
1.0% Decrease 

(6.75%) 

Current  

Discount Rate 

1.0% Increase 

(8.75%) 

TRS    

Net Pension Liability $ 2,323,471,405 $ 1,686,080,457 $ 1,149,263,524 

School District’s Net Pension Liability $ 10,302,459 $ 7,476,217 $ 5,095,927 

    

14. e. NET PENSION LIABILITY  

 

In accordance with GASB Statement 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions, employers are required to recognize, 

and report certain amounts associated with their participation in the PERS and TRS. Statement 68 became effective June 30, 

2015 and includes requirements to record and report their proportionate share of the collective NPL, Pension Expense, and De-

ferred Inflows and Deferred Outflows of resources associated with pensions.  In accordance with Statement 68, PERS and TRS 

have special funding situations in which the State of Montana is legally responsible for making contributions directly to PERS 

and TRS that are used to provide pension benefits to the retired members. Due to the existence of this special funding situation, 

employers are also required to report the portion of the State of Montana’s proportionate share of the collective Net Pension Lia-

bility that is associated with the employer. 

 

As of measurement date 

 Percent of Percent of Change in  

NPL Collective NPL Collective NPL Percent of 

as of 6/30/18 as of 6/30/17 as of 6/30/18 as of 6/30/17 Collective NPL 

PERS 

 

    

School District Propor-

tionate Share $ 2,647,456 $2,409,599  0.1359%  0.1415%  (0.0055%) 

State of Montana  

Proportionate Share  

associated with Employer  121,958  112,614  0.6215%  0.6215%  (0.0699%) 

Total $ 2,769,414 $2,522,213  0.7575%  0.8329%  (0.0754%) 
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TRS 

 

     

School District Propor-

tionate Share $ 7,476,217 $8,081,164  0.4434%  0.4424%  0.0010% 

State of Montana  

Proportionate Share  

associated with Employer  4,745,760  5,267,725  0.2815%  0.2884%  (0.0069%) 

Total $12,221,977 $13,348,889  0.7249%  0.7308%  (0.0059%) 

      

At June 30, 2018, the employer recorded a liability of $2,647,456 and $7,476,217 for PERS and TRS, respectively, for its propor-

tionate share of the NPL. At June 30, 2018, the employer’s proportion was 0.1359 percent and 0.4434 percent for PERS and TRS, 

respectively. 

 

The net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability 

was determined by an actuarial valuation…  

 

For PERS:  …as of June 30, 2016 and applying standard roll forward procedures. The roll forward procedures uses a calculation 

that adds the annual normal cost (also called the service cost), subtracts the actual benefit payments and refunds for the plan year, 

and then applies the expected investment rate of return for the year. The update procedures are in conformity with Actuarial Stand-

ards of Practice issued by the Actuarial Standards Board. 

 

For TRS:  …as of July 1, 2017.  Therefore, no update procedures were used to roll forward the total pension liability to the meas-

urement date. The employer’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on the employer’s contributions received by TRS 

during the measurement period, July 1, 2016 through July 1, 2017, relative to the total employer contributions received from all of 

TRS’ participating employers.  

 

 PERS TRS 

Changes in 

actuarial  

assumptions, 

other inputs, 

and methods:  

 

Effective July 1, 2017, the following assumption changes were used: 

• Lowered the interest rate from 7.75% to 7.65%. 

• Lowered the inflation rate from 3.00% to 2.75%. 

• Updated non-disabled mortality to the RP 2000 Combined Em-

ployee and Annuitant projected to 2020 using scale BB, males 

set back one year. 

• Increased rates of withdrawal. 

• Lowered the merit component of the total salary increase. 

• Lowered the wage base component of the total salary increase 

from 4.00% to 3.50%. 

• Decreased the administrative expense load from 0.27% to 

0.26%.  

 

Effective July 1, 2017, the following method changes were used:  

• Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional 

amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for PERS. 

This amount will vary from year to year based on the prior 

year’s actual administrative expenses.  

• To be consistent with the wage base growth change, the payroll 

growth assumption for amortization as a level percent of pay 

was reduced from 4.00% to 3.50%. 

 

There were no changes in actuarial 

assumptions and other inputs since 

the previous measurement date. 

Changes in 

benefit terms:  

 

Effective July 1, 2017, the following were benefit changes:  

• The interest rate credited to member accounts increased from 

0.25% to 0.77%. 

• Lump sum payouts are limited to the member’s accumulated 

contributions rather than the present value of the member’s ben-

efit. 

 

There were no changes in benefit 

terms since the previous measure-

ment date. 

Changes in 

proportionate 

share:  

There were no changes between the measurement date of the collec-

tive NPL and the employer’s reporting date. 

There were no changes between the 

measurement date of the collective 

NPL and the reporting date.  
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14. f. PENSION EXPENSE 
 

 Pension Expense 

as of 6/30/18 

Pension Expense 

as of 6/30/17 

PERS (as of measurement date)   

School District’s Proportionate Share $ 272,869 $ 170,906 

State of Montana Proportionate Share associated with the Employer   6,502   9,437 

Grant revenue from the State of Montana Coal Tax Fund   37,872   42,217 

Total $ 317,243 $ 222,559 

   

TRS   

School District’s Proportionate Share $ 626,109 $ 676,591 

State of Montana Proportionate Share associated with the Employer   209,586   299,569 

Total $ 835,695 $ 976,160 

   

At June 30, 2018, the employer recognized a Pension Expense of $317,243 and $835,695 for its proportionate share of the PERS 

and TRS Pension Expense, respectively. The employer also recognized grant revenue of $44,374 and $209,586 for the support 

provided by the State of Montana for its proportionate share of the Pension Expense that is associated with the employer for PERS 

and TRS, respectively. 

 

14. g. DEFERRED INFLOWS AND OUTFLOWS  
 
At June 30, 2017, the employer reported its proportionate share of PERS and TRS deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to PERS and TRS from the following sources: 
 

 PERS TRS 

 Deferred 

 Outflows of 

 Resources 

Deferred  

Inflows of 

 Resources 

Deferred  

Outflows of 

 Resources 

Deferred  

Inflows of 

 Resources 

Differences between actual and expected economic  

experience $ 65,199 $ 3,832 $ 27,495 $ 11,177 

Changes in actuarial assumptions  361,880  0  0  31,256 

Difference between projected and actual investment 

earnings   0  17,780  0  29,586 

Changes in proportion and differences between 

actual and expected contributions  0  48,175  23,404  6,229 

Difference between actual and expected contribu-

tions  0  0  0  0 

#Contributions paid subsequent to the measurement 

date – FY 2018 Contributions  145,458  0  553,234  0 

Total $ 572,537 $ 69,788 $ 604,133 $ 78,248 

     

# Amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the employer’s contributions 

subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the NPL in the year ended June 30, 2019.  
 
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in Pension Expense 

as follows: 

 PERS TRS 

Year  

ended  

June 30 

 

Amount recognized in 

Pension Expense  

as an increase or 

 (decrease) to  

Pension Expense 

 

Deferred  

Outflows of  

Resources 

(a) 

Deferred  

Inflows of  

Resources 

(b) 

Amount recognized in 

Pension Expense as an 

increase or (decrease) to  

Pension Expense 

(a) – (b) 

2018 $ 93,779 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

2019 $ 207,020 $ 36,387 $ 137,047 $ (100,660) 

2020 $ 161,016 $ 163,752 $ 20,181 $ 143,571 

2021 $ (56,350) $ 61,694 $ 0 $ 61,694 

2022 $ 0 $ 0 $ 131,956 $ (131,956) 

2023 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 

Thereafter $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
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14. h. PENSION AMOUNTS TOTAL FOR EMPLOYER – EMPLOYER’S PROPORTION OF PERS AND TRS PENSION 

AMOUNTS 

 

 The employer’s 

proportionate 

share associated 

with PERS 

The employer’s 

proportionate 

share associated 

with TRS 

The employer’s 

Total Pension 

Amounts 

 

Total Pension Liability $ 10,085,547 $ 24,994,211 $ 35,079,758  

Fiduciary Net Position $ 7,438,091 $ 17,517,994 $ 24,956,085  

Net Pension Liability $ 2,647,456 $ 7,476,217 $ 10,123,673  

Deferred Outflows of Resources $ 572,537 $ 604,133 $ 1,176,670 

Deferred Inflows of Resources $ 69,788 $ 78,248 $ 148,036 

Pension Expense $ 317,243 $ 835,695 $ 1,152,938  

 

 

NOTE 15. COOPERATIVE 

 

15. a. SPECIAL EDUCATION 

 

The Lewistown School District No. 1 is a member of the Central Montana Learning Resource Center, a Special Education Coop-

erative.  The financial records of the Cooperative are prepared and maintained by the Cooperative Clerk.  The financial records of 

the Cooperative are separate from those of Lewistown School District No. 1, and the financial statements of the Cooperative are 

not included in the School Districts’ financial statements.  The Cooperative’s financial statements are audited separately from 

those of the School District.  All revenue received, including Federal, State, or other types of grant payments, and the financial 

support provided by each of the Cooperative’s members are deposited into the Cooperative’s funds, which are maintained in the 

custody of the Fergus County Treasurer.  The Superintendent of Public Instruction may directly deposit to the Cooperative the 

State and Federal portion of any participating member School District’s budgeted costs for contracted special education services.  

All capital assets of the Cooperative are included in the Cooperative’s financial statements. 

 

A Joint Board of Directors governs the Cooperative.  The Joint Board has the power to set policies, enter into contracts, review 

the performance of the Cooperative annually, review the financial management of the Cooperative annually, and set and approve 

the annual fiscal budget of the Cooperative.   

 

 

NOTE 16.   JOINT VENTURE AGREEMENTS 

 

Joint ventures are legal entities or other organizations that result in a contractual arrangement and that are owned, operated, or 

governed by two or more participants. Each participant retains both an ongoing financial interest and an ongoing financial re-

sponsibility. 

 

16 a.   MULTIDISTRICT COOPERATIVE 

 

Section 20-3-363, MCA allows for the creation of a multidistrict cooperative between any School District and other public entity 

under Title 20, Chapter 9 Part 7, MCA.  The parties in a multidistrict cooperative may mutually agree to perform any services, 

activities, and undertakings of the participants and provide for the joint funding and operation and maintenance of all participants 

in the agreement.  

 

16. a. 1.  TECHNICAL SUPPORT 

 

The School District has entered into an agreement with Lewistown Elementary, Fergus High School, Denton Elementary, Denton 

High School, Grass Range Elementary, Grass Range High School, Harlowton Elementary School, Harlowton High School, Ayers 

Elementary, Roy K-12 Schools, Winifred K-12 Schools, Moore Elementary, Moore High School, Deerfield Elementary, Spring 

Creek Colony Elementary, King Colony Elementary, Hobson K-12 Schools, Judith Gap Elementary, Judith Gap High School, 

Stanford K-12 Schools and the Central Montana Learning Resource Center Cooperative to provide technology services to each 

participating school district and cooperative. 

 

Fergus High School is the designated prime agency and is responsible for the financial administration of the multidistrict cooper-

ative.  The activity of the multidistrict cooperative is accounted for in fund 82 of the Fergus High School.   
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NOTE 17. RECREATIONAL FACILITIES AND EQUIPMENT 

 

The School District and the City of Lewistown entered into an agreement whereby the School District would use the Lewistown 

Civic Center for activities such as basketball, volleyball, softball, soccer, floor hockey, superstars, badminton, snowshoeing, roll-

er skating, cross country skiing, and table tennis. The School District Costs to include an initial payment of $5,122. The School 

District also pays the city for a school resource officer. Fees for this service were $55,206 in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 

 

 

NOTE 18. EVELYN ECCLES FOUNDATION 

 

At the end of each school year, Trustees may "select from the graduating class a student or students, male or female, who have 

best demonstrated his/her ability to conduct scientific research of any kind or character which looks to the advancement of the 

best interests of society" and provide a loan from the fund to aid in their securing higher education.  

 

If a student is selected, the Trustees will determine the amount of the loan, “In amounts sufficient to materially aid and enable 

students to attend an Institution of higher learning.” A no-Interest promissory note (signed by student and parent as cosigner) will 

be executed which shall become due and payable at such time as may be arranged, but not in excess of ten years after the loan 

agreement has been made. The objective of the foundation is to create a revolving fund to be constantly available. 

 

Students selected may receive a $2,000 loan for each four years with a payback of $125 per month for 64 months beginning four 

years from execution of the notes. 

 

At June 30, 2018 there was one student with an outstanding loan balance that was being paid back on a monthly basis. The 

receivable balance of $2,755 is reported in the fiduciary endowment funds. 
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Fiscal 

year end 

Service 

cost 

(a) 

Interest 

(b) 

Changes of 

benefit 

terms 

(c) 

Changes of 

assumptions 

or other 

inputs 

(d) 

Benefit 

payments 

(e) 

Net Change in 

total OPEB 

liability 

Sum of 

(a) to (e)=(f) 

Total OPEB 

Liability 

beginning 

(g) 

Total 

OPEB 

Liability 

ending 

(f)+(g) 

         

6/30/18 $  263,917 $  160,658 $  $ 2,330,713 $  (77,880) $ 2,677,408 $ 1,392,046 $ 4,069,454 

         

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

Year ended 

June 30: 

Employer’s 

proportion 

of the net 

pension  

liability 

Employer’s 

proportionate 

share of the 

net pension 

liability  

associated 

with the  

Employer 

(a) 

State of 

Montana’s 

proportionate 

share of the 

net pension 

liability  

associated 

with the  

Employer 

(b) 

Total 

(a)+(b)=(c) 

Employer’s 

covered 

payroll 

(d) 

Employer’s  

proportionate 

share of the  

net pension  

liability as a  

percentage of 

its covered  

payroll 

(a)/(d) 

Plan  

fiduciary net 

position as a 

percentage 

of the total 

pension  

liability 

        

2014 0.1394% $ 1,736,425 $ 81,172 $ 1,817,597 $ 1,632,445 111.22% 79.87% 

2015 0.1385% $ 1,935,544 $ 90,951 $ 2,026,495 $ 1,670,709 115.85% 78.40% 

2016 0.1415% $ 2,409,599 $ 112,614 $ 2,522,213 $ 1,751,664 137.56% 74.71% 

2017 0.1359% $ 2,647,456 $ 121,958 $ 2,769,414 $ 1,742,460 151.94% 73.75% 

        

 

TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

Year ended 

June 30: 

Employer’s 

proportion 

of the net 

pension  

liability 

Employer’s 

proportionate 

share of the 

net pension 

liability  

associated 

with the  

Employer 

(a) 

State of 

Montana’s 

proportionate 

share of the 

net pension 

liability  

associated 

with the  

Employer 

(b) 

Total 

(a)+(b)=(c) 

Employer’s 

covered 

payroll 

(d) 

Employer’s  

proportionate 

share of the  

net pension 

liability as a 

percentage of 

its covered  

payroll 

(a)/(d) 

Plan  

fiduciary net 

position as a 

percentage 

of the total 

pension  

liability 

        

2014 0.4362% $ 6,712,796 $ 4,599,979 $ 11,312,775 $ 5,501,106 122.03% 70.36% 

2015 0.4441% $ 7,296,596 $ 4,891,615 $ 12,188,211 $ 5,537,456 131.77% 69.30% 

2016 0.4424% $ 8,081,164 $ 5,267,725 $ 13,348,889 $ 5,651,304 143.00% 66.69% 

2017 0.4434% $ 7,476,217 $ 4,745,760 $ 12,221,977 $ 5,848,407 127.83% 70.09% 

        

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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PUBLIC EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

Year ended 

June 30: 

Contractually  

required  

contributions 

(a) 

Plan Choice 

Rate Required 

Contribution 

(b) 

Contributions 

in relation to 

contractually 

required  

contributions 

(c) 

Contribution 

deficiency 

(excess) 

(a)+(b)-

(c)=(d) 

Employer’s 

covered 

payroll 

(e) 

Contributions 

as a percentage 

of covered 

payroll 

((a)+(b))/(e) 

       

2015 $ 133,157 $ 478 $ 133,635 $ 0 $ 1,670,709 8.00% 

2016 $ 141,634 $ 295 $ 141,929 $ 0 $ 1,751,664 8.10% 

2017 $ 141,142 $ 0 $ 141,142 $ 0 $ 1,742,460 8.10% 

2018 $ 145,458 $ 0 $ 145,458 $ 0 $ 1,773,887 8.20% 

       

 

TEACHERS RETIREMENT SYSTEM 

 

Year ended 

June 30: 

Contractually  

required  

contributions 

(a) 

Contributions 

in relation to 

contractually  

required  

contributions 

(b) 

Contribution 

deficiency 

(excess) 

(a)-(b)=(c) 

Employer’s 

covered 

payroll 

(d) 

Contributions 

as a percentage 

of covered 

payroll 

(a)/(d) 

      

2015 $ 520,550 $ 520,550 $ 0 $ 5,537,456 9.40% 

2016 $ 601,312 $ 601,312 $ 0 $ 5,651,304 10.64% 

2017 $ 592,541 $ 592,541 $ 0 $ 5,848,407 10.13% 

2018 $ 553,234 $ 553,234 $ 0 $ 5,828,310 9.49% 

      

Schedule is intended to show information for 10 years. Additional years will be displayed as they become available. 
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NOTE 1. PUBLIC EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 
1. a.  CHANGES OF BENEFIT TERMS 
 
The following changes to the plan provision were made as identified: 
 
2015 Legislative Changes: 
General Revisions - House Bill 101, effective January 1, 2016 
Second Retirement Benefit - for PERS 

1)  Applies to PERS members who return to active service on or after January 1, 2016. Members who retire before January 
1, 2016, return to PERS-covered employment, and accumulate less than 2 years of service credit before retiring again: 
•  refund of member’s contributions from second employment plus regular interest (currently 0.25%); 
•  no service credit for second employment; 
•  start same benefit amount the month following termination; and 
•  GABA starts again the January immediately following second retirement. 

2)  For members who retire before January 1, 2016, return to PERS-covered employment and accumulate two or more 
years of service credit before retiring again: 
•  member receives a recalculated retirement benefit based on laws in effect at second retirement; and, 
•  GABA starts the January after receiving recalculated benefit for 12 months. 

3)  For members who retire on or after January 1, 2016, return to PERS-covered employment and accumulate less than 5 
years of service credit before retiring again: 
•  refund of member’s contributions from second employment plus regular interest (currently 0.25%); 
•  no service credit for second employment; 
•  start same benefit amount the month following termination; and, 
•  GABA starts again the January immediately following second retirement. 

4)  For members who retire on or after January 1, 2016, return to PERS-covered employment and accumulate five or more 
years of service credit before retiring again: 
•  member receives same retirement benefit as prior to return to service; 
• member receives second retirement benefit for second period of service based on laws in effect at second retire-

ment; and 
•  GABA starts on both benefits in January after member receives original and new benefit for 12 months. 

 
Revise DC Funding Laws - House Bill 107, effective July 1, 2015 
Employer Contributions and the Defined Contribution Plan – for PERS and MUS-RP 

The PCR was paid off effective March 2016 and the contributions of 2.37%, .47%, and the 1.0% increase previously di-
rected to the PCR are now directed to the Defined Contribution or MUS-RP member’s account. 

 
2017 Legislative Changes:  
General Revisions – House Bill 101, effective July 1, 2017  
Working Retiree Limitations – for PERS  

If a PERS retiree returns as an independent contractor to what would otherwise be PERS-covered employment, general con-
tractor overhead costs are excluded from PERS working retiree limitations.  

Terminating Employers – Recovery of actuary costs – for PERS 
Employers who terminate participation in PERS must pay the actuarial liability associated with that termination.  Starting 
July 1, 2017, the terminating employer must also pay for the cost of the actuarial study used to determine that liability. 

 
Refunds 

1) Terminating members eligible to retire may, in lieu of receiving a monthly retirement benefit, refund their accumulated 
contributions in a lump sum.  

2)  Terminating members with accumulated contributions between $200 and $1,000 who wish to rollover their refund must 
do so within 90 days of termination of service.  

3)  Trusts, estates, and charitable organizations listed as beneficiaries are entitled to receive only a lump-sum payment.  
 

Family Law Orders 
If a Family Law Order (FLO) is silent regarding the apportionment of post-retirement benefit adjustments such as the 
GABA, the FLO is presumed to require apportionment of the post-retirement benefit adjustment in the same percentage as 
the monthly retirement benefit is apportioned. 
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Disabled PERS Defined Contribution Members 
PERS members hired after July 1, 2011 have a normal retirement age of 65.  PERS Defined Contribution (DC) members 
hired after July 1, 2011 who became disabled were previously only eligible for a disability benefit until age 65.  Effective 
July 1, 2017, these individuals will be eligible for a disability benefit until they reach 70, thus ensuring the same 5-year time 
period available to PERS DC disabled members hired prior to July 1, 2011 who have a normal retirement age of 60 and are 
eligible for a disability benefit until age 65. 

 
PERS Statutory Appropriation – House Bill 648, effective July 1, 2017  

Revenue from coal severance taxes and interest income from the coal severance tax permanent fund previously statutorily-
appropriated to the PERS defined benefit trust fund will be replaced with the following statutory appropriations: 
1.  FY 2018 - $31.386 million  
2.  FY 2019 - $31.958 million  
3.  Beginning July 1, 2019 through at least June 30, 2025, 101% of the contribution from the previous year from the gen-

eral fund to the PERS defined benefit trust fund, as follows: 
a.  FY 2020 - $32.277 million  
b.  FY 2021 - $32.6 million  
c.  FY 2022 - $32.926 million  
d.  FY 2023 - $33.255 million  
e.  FY 2024 - $33.588 million 
f.  FY 2025 - $33.924 million 

 
1. b CHANGES IN ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND METHODS 
 
Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions 
 
The following Actuarial Assumptions were adopted from the June 30, 2017 actuarial valuation: 
 

General Wage Growth*  3.50% 
*Includes inflation at  2.75% 
Merit increase  0% to 6.30% 
Investment rate of return  7.65 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, and including inflation 
Asset valuation method  4-year smoothed market 
Actuarial cost method  Entry age 
Amortization method  Level percentage of pay, open 
Mortality (Healthy members) For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Employee and Annuitant Mortality Table 

projected to 2020 using Scale BB, males set back 1 year 
Mortality (Disabled members) For Males and Females: RP 2000 Combined Mortality Table 
Admin Expense as % of Payroll 0.26% 

 
Administrative expenses are recognized by an additional amount added to the normal cost contribution rate for the System.  This 
amount varies from year to year based on the prior year’s actual administrative expenses. 
  
 
NOTE 2. TEACHERS’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
 
2. a. CHANGES OF BENEFIT TERMS 
 
The following changes to the plan provisions were made as identified: 
 
The 2013 Montana Legislature passed HB 377 which provides additional revenue and created a two-tier benefit structure. A Tier 
One Member is a person who first became a member before July 1, 2013 and has not withdrawn their member’s account balance. 
A Tier Two Member is a person who first becomes a member on or after July 1, 2013 or after withdrawing their member’s ac-
count balance, becomes a member again on or after July 1, 2013. 
 
The second-tier benefit structure for members hired on or after July 1, 2013 is summarized below. 
 

(1)  Final Average Compensation: average of earned compensation paid in five consecutive years of full-time service that 
yields the highest average 
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(2)  Service Retirement: Eligible to receive a service retirement benefit if the member has been credited with at least five 
full years of creditable service and has attained the age of 60; or has been credited with 30 or more years of full-time or 
part-time creditable service and has attained age 55 

(3)  Early Retirement: Eligible to receive an early retirement allowance if a member is not eligible for service retirement 
but has at least five years of creditable service and attained age 55 

(4)  Professional Retirement Option: if the member has been credited with 30 or more years of service and has attained 
the age of 60 they are eligible for an enhanced allowance equal to 1.85% of average final compensation times all ser-
vice at retirement. Otherwise, the multiplier used to calculate the retirement allowance will be equal to 1.67% 

(5)  Annual Contribution: 8.15% of member’s earned compensation 
(6)  Supplemental Contribution Rate: On or after July 1, 2023, the TRS Board may require a supplemental contribution 

up to 0.5% if the following three conditions are met: 
a.  The average funded ratio of the System based on the last three annual actuarial valuations is equal to or less than 

80%; and 
b.  The period necessary to amortize all liabilities of the System based on the latest annual actuarial valuation is 

greater than 20 years; and 
c.  A State or employer contribution rate increase or a flat dollar contribution to the Retirement System Trust fund has 

been enacted that is equivalent to or greater than the supplemental contribution rate imposed by the TRS Board. 
(7)  Disability Retirement: A member will not be eligible for a disability retirement if the member is or will be eligible for 

a service retirement on the date of termination 
(8)  Guaranteed Annual Benefit Adjustment (GABA): 

a.  If the most recent actuarial valuation shows that Retirement System liabilities are at least 90% funded and the pro-
vision of the increase is not projected to cause the System’s liabilities to be less than 85% funded, the GABA may 
increase from the 0.5% floor up to 1.5%, as set by the Board. 

 
HB 377 increased revenue from the members, employers and the State as follows: 
 
 Annual State contribution equal to $25 million paid to the System in monthly installments. 
 One-time contribution payable to the Retirement System by the trustees of a school district maintaining a retirement fund. 

The one-time contribution to the Retirement System shall be the amount earmarked as an operating reserve in excess of 20% 
of the adopted retirement fund budget for the fiscal year 2013. The amount received was $22 million in FY 2014. 

 1% supplemental employer contribution. This will increase the current employer rates: 
o School Districts contributions will increase from 7.47% to 8.47% 
o The Montana University System and State Agencies will increase from 9.85% to 10.85%. 
o The supplemental employer contribution will increase by 0.1% each fiscal year for fiscal year 2014 thru fiscal year 

2024. Fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2024 the total supplemental employer contribution will be equal to 2%. 
 Members hired prior to July 1, 2013 (Tier 1) under HB 377 are required to contribute a supplemental contribution equal to 

an additional 1% of the member’s earned compensation. 
 Each employer is required to contribute 9.85% of total compensation paid to all re-employed TRS retirees employed in a 

TRS reportable position to the System. 
 
2. b. CHANGES IN ACTUARIAL ASSUMPTIONS AND OTHER INPUTS: 
 
The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2016: 
 
 The normal cost method has been updated to align the calculation of the projected compensation and the total present value 

of plan benefits so that the normal cost rate reflects the most appropriate allocation of plan costs over future compensation. 
 

The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2015: 
 
 Correctly reflect the proportion of members that are assumed to take a refund of contributions upon termination and appro-

priately reflect the three-year COLA deferral period for Tier 2 Members. 
 The 0.63% load applied to the projected retirement benefits of the university members “to account for larger than average 

annual compensation increases observed in the years immediately preceding retirement” is not applied to benefits expected 
to be paid to university members on account of death, disability and termination (prior to retirement eligibility. 

 The actuarial valuation was updated to reflect the assumed rate of retirement for university members at age 60 is 8.50% as 
stated in the actuarial valuation report. 
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 The actuarial valuation was updated to reflect the fact that vested terminations are only covered by the $500 death benefit 
for the one year following their termination and, once again when the terminated member commences their deferred retire-
ment annuity (they are not covered during the deferral period). Additionally, only the portion of the terminated members that 
are assumed to “retain membership in the System” are covered by the $500 death benefit after termination. 

 
The following changes to the actuarial assumptions were adopted in 2014: 
 
 Assumed rate of inflation was reduced from 3.50% to 3.25% 
 Payroll Growth Assumption was reduced from 4.50% to 4.00% 
 Assumed real wage growth was reduced from 1.00% to 0.75% 
 Investment return assumption was changed from net of investment and administrative expenses to net of investment expens-

es only. 
 Mortality among contributing members, service retired members, and beneficiaries was updated to the following: 

o For Males: RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and the RP 2000 Combined Healthy 
Annuitant Mortality Table for ages below 50, set back four years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB 
to 2018. 

o For Females: RP 2000 Healthy Annuitant Mortality Table for ages 50 and above and the RP 2000 Combined Healthy 
Annuitant Mortality Table for ages below 50, set back two years, with mortality improvements projected by Scale BB 
to 2018. 

 Mortality among disabled members was updated to the following: 
o For Males: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for Males, set forward one year, with mortality improvements projected 

by Scale BB to 2018. 
o For Females: RP 2000 Disabled Mortality Table for Females, set forward five years, with mortality improvements pro-

jected by Scale BB to 2018. 
 

Method and assumptions used in calculations of actuarially determined contributions: 
 

 Actuarial cost method  Entry age 
 Amortization method  Level percentage of pay, open 
 Remaining amortization period  24 years 
 Asset valuation method  4-year smoothed market 
 Inflation  3.25 percent 
 Salary increase  4.00 to 8.51 percent, including inflation for Non-University Members and 

5.00% for University Members; 
Investment rate of return  7.75 percent, net of pension plan investment expense, and including inflation 
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

Original 
Budget

Final 
Budget Actual

Original 
Budget

Final 
Budget Actual

REVENUES:
District levies 1,891,194$          1,891,194$          1,868,978$          -$                       -$                       -$                       
Interest 6,067                  6,067                  7,790                  -                        -                        2,083                  
Other -                        -                        -                        -                        -                        400                    
State 4,278,154            4,278,154            4,258,746            31,232                31,232                16,342                

Total revenues 6,175,415            6,175,415            6,135,514            31,232                31,232                18,825                

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Instructional services 3,791,240            46,404                
Support services 190,041              -                        
Educational media services 193,412              -                        
General administrative services 934,037              -                        
Operation & maintenance services 726,751              -                        
Transportation services 4,102                  -                        
School food services 142,788              -                        
Extracurricular 57,518                -                        

Capital outlay -                        -                        

Total expenditures 6,175,415            6,175,415            6,039,889            175,833              175,833              46,404                

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
   over expenditures -                        -                        95,625                (144,601)             (144,601)             (27,579)               

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/USES:
Fund transfers (out) (135,526)             -                        

Total other financial sources/uses -                        -                        (135,526)             -                        -                        -                        

Net changes in fund balances -                        -                        (39,901)               (144,601)             (144,601)             (27,579)               

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of the year 498,525              144,601              

End of the year 458,624$             117,022$             

For the year ended June 30, 2018

 General (Elem.)  Flexibility (Elem.)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
(Budget and Actual)

ALL BUDGETED MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

REVENUES:
District levies
Interest
Other
State

Total revenues

EXPENDITURES:
Current:

Instructional services
Support services
Educational media services
General administrative services
Operation & maintenance services
Transportation services
School food services
Extracurricular

Capital outlay

Total expenditures

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
   over expenditures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES/USES:
Fund transfers (out)

Total other financial sources/uses

Net changes in fund balances

FUND BALANCE:
Beginning of the year

End of the year

Original 
Budget

Final 
Budget Actual

Original 
Budget

Final 
Budget Actual

1,044,966$          1,044,966$          1,032,869$          -$                       -$                       -$                       
2,567                  2,567                  3,934                  -                        -                        1,936                  

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                        1,473                  
2,191,194            2,191,194            2,184,589            34,405                34,405                18,002                

3,238,727            3,238,727            3,221,392            34,405                34,405                21,411                

1,502,192            6,000                  
114,000              -                        
129,174              -                        
566,700              -                        
585,766              -                        
24,633                -                        
26,205                -                        

197,107              -                        
14,004                -                        

3,247,280            3,247,280            3,159,781            198,155              198,155              6,000                  

(8,553)                 (8,553)                 61,611                (163,750)             (163,750)             15,411                

(87,499)               -                        

-                        -                        (87,499)               -                        -                        -                        

(8,553)                 (8,553)                 (25,888)               (163,750)             (163,750)             15,411                

333,281              163,750              

307,393$             179,161$             

For the year ended June 30, 2018

 Flexibility (HS) General (HS)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
(Budget and Actual)

ALL BUDGETED MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

                              The accompanying NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS are an integral part of these statements.
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LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

NOTES TO THE BUDGET VS ACTUAL SCHEDULE 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 

 

51 

NOTE 1. BUDGETS 

 

1. a. BUDGETS 

 

Budgets are adopted on a basis consistent with the State of Montana budget laws which are consistent with generally accepted 

accounting principles (GAAP).  Annual appropriated budgets are adopted for the general fund, budgeted special revenue funds 

(Transportation, Bus Depreciation, Tuition, Retirement, Adult Education, Technology, Flexibility), debt service fund, and budg-

eted capital project funds (Building Reserve).  All annual appropriations lapse at fiscal year end, unless the School District elects 

to encumber supplies and personal property ordered but not received at year end. 

 

1. a. 1 GENERAL BUDGET POLICIES: 

 

The School District’s funds are either budgeted or non-budgeted in accordance with State statutes.  Budgeted funds are those of 

which a legal budget must be adopted to have expenditures from such funds and are noted above.  All other funds are non-

budgeted, meaning a legal budget is not required in order to spend the cash balance of such a fund.  The Schedule of Revenues, 

Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, Budget vs. Actual, has been prepared on the modified accrual basis of accounting 

and contains financial information for only the major general and special revenue fund budgeted funds.  The major funds miscel-

laneous programs and interlocal agreement funds are not included in the schedule because they are non-budgeted fund.   

 

1. a. 2 BUDGET OPERATION: 

 

The School District operates within the budget requirements for School Districts as specified by State law.  The financial report 

reflects the following budgetary standards: 

 

• By the second Monday in July, the County Assessor transmits a statement of the assessed valuation and taxable valuation 

of all property in the School District’s borders. 

• Before the fourth Monday in July, the County Superintendent estimates the revenue required for each fund. 

• Before the fourth Monday in August, the Board of Trustees must meet to legally adopt the final budget.  The final budget 

for the general fund is fund total only. 

• Once adopted, the budget can be amended by subsequent Board action.  An increase of the total budget of a given fund 

requires the adoption of an amended budget in accordance with State statutes. 

• According to State of Montana statutes, the expenditures of a budgeted fund may not legally exceed the adopted budget. 

• At the end of a fiscal year, unencumbered appropriations lapse unless specifically obligated by the School District. 

 

 

NOTE 2. BUDGET AMENDMENT 

 

The original budgets were not amended so the original budget and the final budget are the same. 
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NOTE 3.   COMBINING SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE ALL 

SUB-FUNDS OF THE GENERAL FUND  

 

 Sub-fund Sub-fund Sub-fund Sub-fund Sub-fund Sub-fund Total 

 

General 

Fund 

(Elem) 

Metal 

Mines Tax 

Reserve 

(Elem) 

Flexibility 

Fund    

(Elem) 

General 

Fund   

(HS) 

Metal 

Mines Tax 

Reserve 

(Elem) 

Flexibility 

Fund   

(HS) 

General 

Fund 

REVENUES:        

District levies $ 1,868,978 $ 0 $ 0 $ 1,032,870 $ 0 $ 0 $ 2,901,848 

Interest earnings  7,790  1,932  2,083  3,934  1,453  1,936  19,129 

Other   0  0  400  0  0  1,473  1,873 

State sources  4,258,746  0  16,341  2,184,589  0  18,002  6,477,678 

Total revenues $ 6,135,514 $ 1,932 $ 18,824 $ 3,221,393 $ 1,453 $ 21,411 $ 9,400,527 

        

EXPENDITURES:        

Instructional services  3,791,240  0  46,404  1,502,191  0  0  5,345,835 

Support services  190,041  0  0  114,000  0  6,000  304,042 

Educational media   193,412  0  0  129,174  0  0  322,586 

General administrative   934,037  0  0  566,700  0  0  1,500,738 

Operation & maintenance   726,751  0  0  585,700  0  0  1,312,517 

Transportation   4,102  0  0  24,633  0  0  28,735 

School food  142,788  0  0  26,205  0  0  168,993 

Extracurricular  57,518  0  0  197,107  0  0  254,625 

Capital outlay  0  0  0  14,004  0  0  14,004 

Total expenditures $ 6,039,889 $ 0 $ 46,404 $ 3,159,781 $ 0 $ 6,000 $ 9,252,074 

        

Excess (deficiency) of revenues 

over expenditures  95,625  1,932  (27,579)  61,611  1,453  15,411  148,452 

        

OTHER FINANCING 

SOURCES/USES: 

              

Fund transfers in  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 

Fund transfers (out)  (135,526)  0  0  (87,499)  0  0  (223,025) 

Total other financial sources/uses  (1,35,526)  0  0  (87,499)  0  0  (223,025) 

        

Net changes in fund balances  (39,901)  1,932  (27,579)  (25,888)  1,453  15,411  (74,572) 

        

FUND BALANCE:        

Beginning of the Year  498,525  170,221  144,601  333,281  90,104  163,750  1,400,481 

Prior period adjustment  0  0  0  0  0  0  0 

Ending of the Year (GAAP)  458,624  172,153  117,022  307,393  91,557  179,161 $ 1,325,909 

Current year encumbrances  0  0  0  0  0  0  

Ending of the Year (Budget) $ 458,624 $ 172,153 $ 117,022 $ 307,393 $ 91,557 $ 179,161  

 

In the General Fund sub-funds reconciliation above, the elementary and high school General fund, elementary and high school 

Flexibility fund, and elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve fund are added together to get to the aggregate Gen-

eral Fund shown as a major fund on the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance Governmental 

Funds.  The elementary and high school Flexibility fund and elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Reserve funds are 

maintained as separate funds for accounting purposes. However, for external financial reporting purposes, they are added to the 

General fund because they, like the General fund, have unassigned fund balance(s). 

 

On the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance (Budget and Actual) All Budgeted Major Govern-

mental Funds display budgeted information for the General and major special revenue funds of the School District.  The above 

General Fund sub-funds display budget to actual information, except for the elementary and high school Metal Mines Tax Re-

serve fund which is a non-budgeted fund.   
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Activity Account Name

Beginning 

Balance Revenues Expenses Transfers

Ending 

Balance

7/1/2017 6/30/2018

ANNUAL 988$              7,235$           7,347$        -$                876$           

AP TESTING 3,292             3,473             3,744          -                  3,021          

BAND 42                  539                389             -                  192             

EASTERN MT JAZZ FESTIVAL 13                  -                    -                  -                  13               

BPA 474                9,584             8,907          -                  1,151          

CT MT MENTORS 221                -                    -                  -                  221             

CHEERLEADERS 7,307             12,388           12,210        -                  7,485          

Concessions - Fund Balance -                    27,151           17,697        (2,210)         7,244          

NHS/CLAWS 53                  580                689             56               -                  

EAGLE RENAISSANCE 2,299             480                (59)              -                  2,838          

FCLUB 2,096             10                  200             (100)            1,806          

FFA 5,521             27,856           25,212        (42)              8,123          

FCCLA 5,417             25,719           27,987        635             3,784          

FLY FISHING 1,223             -                    185             -                  1,038          

SPANISH CLUB 2,170             3,445             3,786          -                  1,829          

HOW CLUB 393                -                    46               -                  347             

VICA/SKILLS USA 36                  400                -                  -                  436             

KEY CLUB 3,910             1,249             1,650          -                  3,509          

ART CLUB 1,216             1,239             306             -                  2,149          

SCIENCE CLUB 3,208             198                1,516          -                  1,890          

SKI CLUB 6,467             4,044             4,066          -                  6,445          

STUDENT COUNCIL 3,282             6,274             6,072          354             3,838          

THESPIANS 1,081             -                    -                  -                  1,081          

TROPHY 2,281             -                    45               -                  2,236          

VOCAL MUSIC 2,186             208                239             -                  2,155          

DIST. 8 MUSCH FESTIVAL 1,371             8,458             7,686          -                  2,143          

WEIGHT CLUB 1,150             -                    945             -                  205             

AP GOVT 115                -                    -                  -                  115             

CAREER FAIR 3,850             -                    1,848          -                  2,002          

EAGLE WEAR 839                520                -                  -                  1,359          

MODEL UN -                    823                1,870          1,047          -                  

LEADERSHIP -                    50                  -                  -                  50               

Astronomy Club 204                -                    -                  -                  204             

CLASS OF 2017 200                -                    -                  (200)            -                  

CLASS OF 2018 2,476             -                    1,599          (878)            (1)                

CLASS OF 2019 368                15,461           12,764        1,071          4,136          

CLASS OF 2020 93                  -                    70               -                  23               

CLASS OF 2021 -                    -                    128             200             72               

CLASS OF 2022 -                    -                    -                  67               67               

SCHOOL SPONSORED X-CURR 38,874           167,801         172,283      -                  34,392        

GIRLS SOFTBALL/BOYS CROSS COUNTRY 22,821           25,734           28,061        -                  20,494        

GENERAL ACTIVITIES 60,120           14,452           14,048        1,000          61,524        

Subtotal 187,657         365,371         363,536      1,000          190,492      
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Activity Account Name

Beginning 

Balance Revenues Expenses Transfers

Ending 

Balance

7/1/2017 6/30/2018

LC SERVICE COUNCIL 1,103             375                520             -                  958             

BUILDERS CLUB 142                -                    -                  -                  142             

CHEERLEADERS 1,391             -                    70               -                  1,321          

CONSUMER TECH 736                2,638             2,746          -                  628             

FACS 1,088             1,666             850             (1,000)         904             

BC, SC STORE 667                4,330             4,064          -                  933             

MUSIC 2,280             195                1,326          -                  1,149          

PHOTO CLUB 2,157             3,082             2,628          -                  2,611          

SERVICE LEARNING 194                197                -                  -                  391             

SKI CLUB 1,190             5,043             4,845          -                  1,388          

STUDENT COUNCIL 347                560                588             -                  319             

NEWS 170                -                    -                  -                  170             

GIS CLUB 313                -                    -                  -                  313             

COMPUTER SERV LEARNING 129                -                    -                  -                  129             

FIELD TRIP SKI DAY 858                -                    -                  -                  858             

ROBOTICS CLUB 439                -                    -                  -                  439             

SCIENCE OLYMPIAD 637                1,000             1,481          -                  156             

EXPEDITION YELLOWSTONE 5,991             2,501             -                  -                  8,492          

Subtotal 19,832           21,587           19,118        (1,000)         21,301        

Total 207,489$       386,958$       382,654$    -$                211,793$    
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FALL ENROLLMENT – 

OCTOBER, 2017 

 SPRING ENROLLMENT – 

FEBRUARY, 2018 

Elementary        

  Reported Audited Variance  Reported Audited Variance 

Kindergarten Full  96  96  0   101  101  0 

Grade 1 - 6  580  580  0   571  571  0 

Grade 7 - 8  155   155   0    156   156   0  

Total  831   831   0    828   828   0  

        

Part-time Students              

Less than 181 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 359 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 539 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 719 hours  0   0   0    2   2   0  

Total Part-time  0   0   0    2   2   0  

        

        

High School            

  Reported Audited Variance  Reported Audited Variance 

Grade 9 - 12  348   348   0    343   343   0  

               

Part-time Students              

Less than 181 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 359 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 539 hours  0  0  0   0  0  0 

Less than 719 hours  2   2   0    1   1   0  

Total Part-time  2   2   0    1   1   0  

        

19-year olds included   0   0   0    0   0   0  

Youth Challenge included  0   0   0    0   0   0  
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Lewistown SD 
Fergus County
Lewistown, MT 59457

Federal Pass-Through Amount
Federal Grantor/ Pass-Through CFDA Grantor's Passed to Federal
Grantor/ Program or Cluster Title Number Number Subrecipients Expenditures

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF AGRICULTURE

PASSED THROUGH MONTANA OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION:

National School Lunch Program (Donated Food) (fn2) 10.555 N/A -                           40,729                   
National School Lunch Program (fn1) 10.555 N/A -                           279,416                 

Total Child Nutrition Cluster 320,145                 

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 320,145$                

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION

PASSED THROUGH CENTRAL MT LEARNING RESOURCE CENTER 
COOPERATIVE:

Special Education Grants to States 84.027 014-9691-56-12-259a -                           58,500                   

PASSED THROUGH MONTANA OFFICE OF PUBLIC INSTRUCTION:

Title I Grants to Local Education Agencies
 - Part A, Improving Basic Programs 84.010 014-0258-32-18 -                           362,567                 

Rehabilitation Services Vocational Rehabilitation Grants to States 84.126 N/A -                           38,891                   
Rural Education 84.358A S358A173476 -                           28,212                   

Career & Technical Education - Basic Grants to States (Carl Perkins) 84.048 014-0259-81-18 -                           18,819                   

Gaining Early Awareness & Readiness for Undergraduate Programs 
(Gear UP) 84.334 N/A -                           600                       

Total U.S. Department of Education 507,589$                

Total Federal Financial Assistance 827,734$                

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018

                              The accompanying notes to the SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS are an integral part of this schedule.
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NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the “Schedule”) includes the federal grant activity of Lewistown 

School District No. 1 under programs of the federal government for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. The information in this 

Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 

Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Because the 

Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of Lewistown School District No. 1, it is not intended to and does not 

present the financial position, changes in net position or cash flows of Lewistown School District No. 1. 

 

 

NOTE 2.  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the modified accrual basis of accounting as used in the governmental fi-

nancial statements. Such expenditures are recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in Office of Management 

and Budget Circular A-122, Cost Principles for Non-Profit Organizations, or the cost principles contained in Title 2 U.S. Code of 

Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal 

Award, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. Pass-through entity identify-

ing numbers are presented where available 

 

 

NOTE 3. INDIRECT COST RATE 

 

Lewistown School District No. 1 has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate allowed under the Uniform 

Guidance. 

 

 

NOTE 4. FOOTNOTES 

 

Fn1 – No separate funds or accounts maintained, the School District assumes first in first out for program money. 

Fn2 – The value of commodities (revenues, expenses or inventory) are not displayed in the basic financial statements. 

N/A – Not applicable/ available. 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH 

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

Board of Trustees 

Lewistown School District No. 1 

Fergus County 

Lewistown, Montana 59457 

 

 

 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards 

applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United 

States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 

Lewistown School District No. 1 as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018,  and the related notes to the financial statements, 

which collectively comprise the Lewistown School District No. 1’s basic financial statements and have issued our report thereon 

dated January 15, 2019.    

 

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Lewistown School District No. 1’s internal con-

trol over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the 

purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-

ness of the School District’s internal control.  Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the School Dis-

trict’s internal control. 

 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the 

normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A materi-

al weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 

material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A 

significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weak-

ness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

 

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 

section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant defi-

ciencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be 

material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

 

Compliance and Other Matters 

 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether Lewistown School District No. 1’s financial statements are free of mate-

rial misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agree-

ments, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts.  

However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do 

not express such an opinion.  The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to 

be reported under Government Auditing Standards.   
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Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the results of that 
testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or on compliance.  This report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s internal control 
and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC 
Billings, Montana 
January 15, 2019 
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND  

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY 

Uniform Guidance 

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

 

 

Board of Trustees  

Lewistown School District No. 1 

Fergus County 

Lewistown, Montana 59457 

 

 

 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

 

We have audited Lewistown School District No. 1’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the 

OMB Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of Lewistown School District No. 1’s major 

federal programs for the year ended June 30, 2018.  Lewistown School District No. 1’s major federal programs are identified in 

the summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 

 

Management’s Responsibility 

 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to its fed-

eral programs. 

 

Auditor’s Responsibility 

 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Lewistown School District No. 1’s major federal programs 

based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accord-

ance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits con-

tained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit requirements of 

Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Require-

ments for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  Those standards and Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the 

audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above 

that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 

evidence about Lewistown School District No. 1’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as 

we considered necessary in the circumstances. 

 

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal program.  However, 

our audit does not provide a legal determination of Lewistown School District No. 1’s compliance. 

 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

 

In our opinion, Lewistown School District No. 1’s, complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements 

referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year ended June 30, 

2018 
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Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 
Management of Lewistown School District No. 1 is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over 
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of compliance, we 
considered Lewistown School District No. 1’s internal control over compliance with the types of requirements that could have a 
direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the circum-
stances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal program and to test and report on internal 
control over compliance in accordance with Uniform Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effective-
ness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Lewistown School 
District No. 1’s internal control over compliance. 
 
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, non-
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal con-
trol over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a rea-
sonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevent-
ed, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program that 
is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those 
charged with governance. 
 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section 
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or signifi-
cant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weak-
nesses.  However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 
 
Purpose of this Report 
 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 
 
 
 
 
STROM & ASSOCIATES, PC 
Billings, Montana 
January 15, 2019 
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LEWISTOWN SCHOOL DISTRICT NO. 1 

 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

For the year ended June 30, 2018 
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A.   SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

 

Financial Statements: 

 

1. The auditor, Strom & Associates, PC, has issued an unmodified opinion on Lewistown School District No. 1’s financial 

statements as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

 

2. Our audit did not identify any material weaknesses relating to internal controls over financial reporting and its opera-

tion. 

 

3. Our audit did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls over financial reporting and its operation. 

 

4. Our audit did not identify any noncompliance which was material to the financial statements. 

 

Federal Awards: 

 

5. Our audit did not identify any material weaknesses relating to internal controls over federal programs. 

 

6. Our audit did not identify any significant deficiencies in internal controls over federal programs. 

 

7. The auditor, Strom & Associates, PC, has issued an unmodified opinion on Lewistown School District No. 1’s compli-

ance with major federal awards programs as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018. 

 

8. The audit disclosed no audit findings which are required to be reported under section 200.516 of Uniform Guidance. 

 

9. The major program for Lewistown School District No. 1 for the year ended June 30, 2018 was: 

 

CFDA Number Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

84.010 Title I Grants to Local Education Agencies 

 

10. The threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs was $750,000.    

 

11. This School District does qualify as a low risk audit client. 

 

 

B. Findings relating to the financial statements which are required to be reported in accordance with “Governmental Auditing 

Standards.” 

 

Prior year findings/status: 

 

There were no findings or recommendations in the prior audit report and none for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 

 

 

C.  Findings and questioned costs for Federal awards, as defined in section 200.516 of Uniform Guidance. 

 

The audit disclosed no findings or questioned costs relating to federal awards as defined in section 200.516 of Uniform 

Guidance in the prior audit report or for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

          
 
 

 
ITEM TITLE:        REPORT—ELECTION INFORMATION        
 
Requested By: ___Superintendent          Prepared By:            Rebekah Rhoades ______________________             
             _______ 
 
SUMMARY: 
  

Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, will report on the election calendar and 
procedures for 2019. 

 
Attached are the Terms of Office Listing and the 2019 School Election Calendar. 
 
Board members terms of office that are due to expire in 2019 include:  Phil Koterba and Jennifer 
Thompson. 

 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational 
               

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 
 
 

02/11/2019 10 
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As currently exists, Board members terms of office are as follows:

Expire Expire Expire
2019 2020 2021

SCHOOL DISTRICT #1 Phillip R. Koterba Kris Birdwell CJ Bailey
Jennifer Thompson Jeff Southworth Monte Weeden

Stephen Vantassel

School District #1 Two -- Three (3) Year Terms:

3-year term (to expire in 2022)

3-year term (to expire in 2022)

Declaration of Intents Filed for Nomination of School Board Trustee:

LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Lewistown, Montana

BOARD MEMBERS TERMS OF OFFICE

Excel\Board of Trustee Term Expirations

Phillip R. Koterba
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SCHOOL ELECTION CALENDAR 2019 

Days From 
Election 

Deadlines 
Event 

(Special Instances Identified in Green) 

MCA 
Citation 

No earlier than 
145 days, or 
later that 40 
days before 

Thursday, 
December 13 

through 
Thursday,  
March 28 

Trustee candidates file for election.  A Declaration of Intent and Oath of Candidacy 
must be filed with district clerk (regardless of who is running the election).  NO 
CANDIDATE MAY APPEAR ON THE BALLOT UNLESS THE CANDIDATE MEETS THIS 
DEADLINE.  
 
Candidate must be registered to vote at the time the Oath is filed. 

13-10-201 

20-3-305 

 

At least 70 days 
before 

Tuesday, 
February 26 

Trustees call for an election.  The trustees must pass a resolution stating:  1) the 
date of the election; 2) the purpose of the election; 3) whether the election will be 
by mail or poll; 4) the voting locations and boundaries for each location, if there are 
multiple locations within a district (if changed from a previous school election the 
new locations must be specifically noted); and 5) the time the polls will open, if 
before noon.  The trustees do NOT have to set levy amounts at this time; however, 
they must be set in time for the clerk to certify the ballot (not less than 30 days 
before the election). The resolution must be delivered to the county election 
administrator within 3 days of passage, but it need NOT be posted. The trustees 
must also appoint three election judges per precinct.  

• Bond Elections are subject to additional requirements (see 20-9-422, 
MCA).   

• Request for a mail ballot election must be sent from trustees to the 
election administrator.  Exception:  Even if no request is received, the 
election administrator could decide to request a mail ballot election. 

13-19-202 
 

13-19-203 

 
20-9-422 

 
20-20-201 

 
20-20-203 

 
 

At least 67 days 
before (within 3 
days of passage 
of the election 

resolution) 

Friday, March 
1 

Last day to file resolutions for school election with county election administrator.  
To assist with the provisions of late registration, include the name and best contact 
number for the district’s election administrator with the resolution. 

20-20-
201(2)(a) 

At least 60 days 
before 

Friday,  
March 8 

Election administrator sends mail ballot election plan/timetable/sample 
instructions to the Secretary of State's Office so that it is received by this deadline 
(e.g., fax, mail, or e-mail to SOS office (not post marked)).  One plan must be 
submitted for each election.  As soon as the plan (and any amendments are 
approved), forward a copy of the mail ballot plan to the county election 
administrator.  Link to instructions:   
Mail Ballot Plan Timetable and Instructions  

13-19-205 

4 weeks 
preceding the 

close of regular 
registration 

Monday, 
March 11 

Notice of close of regular registration.  The county election administrator publishes 
the notice of close of regular registration for school districts at least 3 times in the 4 
weeks preceding the close of regular registration.  Contact the county election 
administrator to coordinate that publication. 

13-2-301 

Not later than 
5pm the day 
before ballot 
certification 

Thursday, 
April 4 

(by 5 p.m.) 

Last day trustee candidates may withdraw from the election.  Any candidate that 
has already filed for election, but wishes to withdraw their name, may do so by 
sending a statement of withdrawal to the election administrator. 

20-3-
305(3)(a) 

Not later than 
5pm the day 
before ballot 
certification 

Thursday,  
April 4 

(by 5 p.m.) 

Deadline for write-in candidate for a trustee position on a school board to file 
Declaration of Intent (must be filed with the district clerk, regardless of who is 
running the election). 

20-3-
305(2)(b) 

No later than 
the 30th day 

before 

Friday,  
April 5 

Deadline to notify election judges of appointment. 13-4-101 
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https://sosmt.gov/Portals/142/Elections/Documents/Officials/Mail-Ballot-Plan-Timetable-and-Instructions.docx
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0130/chapter_0190/part_0020/section_0050/0130-0190-0020-0050.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0130/chapter_0020/part_0030/section_0010/0130-0020-0030-0010.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0030/part_0030/section_0050/0200-0030-0030-0050.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0030/part_0030/section_0050/0200-0030-0030-0050.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0030/part_0030/section_0050/0200-0030-0030-0050.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0030/part_0030/section_0050/0200-0030-0030-0050.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0130/chapter_0040/part_0010/section_0010/0130-0040-0010-0010.html
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Days From 
Election 

Deadlines 
Event 

(Special Instances Identified in Green) 

MCA 
Citation 

Not less than 30 
days before 

Friday,  
April 5 

Election administrator certifies ballot. The election administrator prepares the final 
ballot form, listing all candidates and propositions to be voted upon.  The ballot 
must then be delivered to the election administrator, if other than the clerk.   
Trustees must pass a resolution stating exact levy amounts by this date for the clerk 
to certify the ballot.  This resolution must include the durational limit, if any, on the 
levy. 

20-20-401 

15-10-425 
 

Not less than 30 
days before 

Friday,  
April 5 

 

Election by Acclamation and Cancellation of Election - Notice. If the number of 
candidates filing a nomination petition or filing a declaration of intent to be a write-
in candidate is equal to or less than the number of open trustee positions to be 
elected, the trustees cancel the trustee election. They must then give notice that a 
trustee election will not be held.  The trustee election may not be declared by 
acclamation until all candidate filing deadlines have passed.  Send a copy to the 
county election administrator to aid with the provisions of late registration. 
 
**A trustee election held in single-member or trustee nominating district is 
considered a separate trustee election for declaring the election by acclamation. 

20-3-313 

30 days before 
any election 

Monday, April 
8  

Close of regular voter registration.  Registration forms postmarked by this date and 
received within 3 days are accepted for regular registration.  Late registration must 
be completed at the county election office. 

13-2-301 

Not more than 
30 days before 

Monday, April 
8 

Contact your county election administrator for the absentee ballot list.   13-13-212 
 

20-20-312 

Day after Close 
of Regular 

Registration 

Tuesday, April 
9 

Start of Late Registration.  Late voter registration starts and continues through the 
close of polls on election day, except that late registration is closed from noon to 5 
pm on the day before the election.  Late registration must be completed at the 
office of the county election administrator.  

13-2-304 

Not less than 10 
days, or more 
than 40 days 

before 

Thursday  
March 28 
Through 

Saturday, 
April 27 

Notice of election is posted. The election notice must be published in a newspaper 
of general circulation in the district if available, posted in at least three public places 
in the district AND posted on the district’s website for the 10 days prior to the 
election, if the district has an active website.  Notice using any other recognized 
media may be used to supplement the posting. The notice must include: 1) the date 
and voting locations for the election; 2) voting location hours; 3) each proposition to 
be considered by the electorate; 4) the number of trustee positions, if any, subject 
to election and the length of the terms for those positions; 5) where and how 
absentee ballots may be obtained; and 6) where and how late registrants may 
obtain a ballot on election day.   

• If the polling place has changed from the previous school election, that 
change must be referred to in the notice.   

• If more than one proposition will be considered in the same district, each 
proposition must be set apart and identified, or placed in separate notices. 

20-20-204 

At least 20 days 
before 

Wednesday,  
April 17 

Absentee ballots available. The election administrator prepares ballots for 
absentee voters. Remember to enclose four things in the absentee package. 
  ● The ballot (with stubs removed); 
  ● Instructions for voting and returning the ballot; 
  ● A secrecy envelope, free of marks that would identify the voter; and 
  ● A self-addressed, return envelope with affirmation printed on the back. 

13-13-214 
 

20-20-401 

 

Not before the 
20th day nor 

later than the 
15th day 

Wednesday, 
April 17 
through 

Monday, April 
22 

Mail ballots mailed.  If mail ballot election is used, all ballots must be mailed on the 
same day (the day noted in the district’s mail ballot plan), except that if an inactive 
elector reactivates after the ballots are mailed, the elector should be provided with 
or mailed a ballot.  If the elector reactivates after noon on the day before election 
day, the elector must come in on election day to receive a ballot.  

13-19-207 
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Days From 
Election 

Deadlines 
Event 

(Special Instances Identified in Green) 

MCA 
Citation 

Not more than 
10 days or less 

than 2 days 
before 

Saturday, 
April 27 
through 

Sunday, May 5 

Absentee/Mail Ballot Counting Notice.  Districts must publish in a newspaper of 
general circulation in the county a notice indicating the method that will be used for 
counting absentee/mail ballots and the place and time that the absentee/mail 
ballots will be counted on election day.  If the district publishes their notice of 
election on the 10th day prior to the election, in a newspaper of general circulation in 
the county, this information may be included in that notice.    

13-15-105 

 

 

Day before 
(By Noon) 

Monday, 
May 6 

 

Deadline for absentee ballot requests. Voters who wish to vote absentee may 
request an absentee ballot in writing or in person until noon the day before the 
election.  

13-13-211 

13-13-214 

Day before Monday, 
May 6 

Deliver certified copy of the lists of registered electors.  Before the day of election, 
the county election administrator shall deliver a certified copy of the lists of 
registered electors for each voting location to the district.  The district shall deliver 
them to the election judges prior to the opening of a voting location. 

20-20-313 

Day before 
(between noon 

and 5pm) 

Monday, May 
6 

Late registration closed.  Late registration is closed between noon and 5pm the day 
before the election.  Electors may late register on election day at the office of the 
county election administrator. 

13-2-304 

Election Day 

 
 

Tuesday,  
May 7 

 
 

ELECTION DAY. The election administrator must prepare the polling places, printed 
ballots, ensure election judges are present, and conduct a fair and unbiased election 
(See Election Procedures). 
 
Notify election judges of the names of write-in candidates 

Title 13  

20-20-105 

20-20-401 

20-20-411 

No sooner than 
3pm on the 6th 
day after the 

election 

Monday, May 
13 

The first date that provisional ballots may be counted.  Following the election, 
unresolved provisional ballots are sealed.  These ballots may not be opened until 
after 3pm on the 6th day after election.  The election judges convene, and a 
determination is made as to whether the ballots are counted.  If there are 
provisional ballots in a school election, the canvass may not occur until after all 
provisional ballots are resolved. 

13-15-107 

Following 
receipt of the 

tally sheets 
from all polls 
and within 15 
days after the 

election 

By 
Wednesday,  

May 22 

Trustees canvass the votes, issue certificates of election, and publish results. 
Trustees review the tally sheets compiled by the election judges to ascertain their 
accuracy. Recounts are ordered, if necessary. If tally is complete and accurate, 
trustees issue certificates of election to successful candidates. The canvassed results 
shall be published immediately in a newspaper that will give notice to the largest 
number of people in the district. 

20-20-415 

20-20-416 

Within 5 days 
after the official 

canvas 

Monday, May 
13 through 

Tuesday, May 
28 

Deadline for filing a petition for recount.  When a question submitted to a vote of 
the people is decided by a margin not exceeding ¼ of 1% of the total votes cast for 
and against the question, a petition for recount must be filed within 5 days after the 
official canvas. 

13-16-201 

Within 5 days of 
receipt of notice 

from the 
election 

administrator 

Monday, May 
13 through 

Tuesday, May 
28 

Deadline for convening the School Recount Board.  When a tie vote has been 
certified to the election administrator or conditions have been met for filing a 
recount petition, the board shall convene at its usual meeting place to perform a 
recount.  The recount must be completed within 5 days of receipt of official canvas 
or recount petition. 

13-16-204 

20-20-420 

Within 15 days 
of election 

By 
Wednesday, 

May 22 

Deadline for trustees to hold organizational meeting to elect chair and appoint 
clerk. 

20-3-321 
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http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0130/chapter_0160/part_0020/section_0010/0130-0160-0020-0010.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0130/chapter_0160/part_0020/section_0040/0130-0160-0020-0040.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0200/part_0040/section_0200/0200-0200-0040-0200.html
http://leg.mt.gov/bills/mca/title_0200/chapter_0030/part_0030/section_0210/0200-0030-0030-0210.html
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Days From 
Election 

Deadlines 
Event 

(Special Instances Identified in Green) 

MCA 
Citation 

June 1 Friday, May 
31  

Deadline for trustees to request county election administrator to conduct school 
elections for next year. The school district clerk/election administrator is designated 
the election administrator for school elections. However, the trustees of any district 
may request the county election administrator (EA) to become the election 
administrator for school elections.  The request must be made by a resolution of the 
board of trustees.  If the county EA accepts, then he/she must perform all the duties 
the school clerk would have. The school district must assume all costs of the 
election. 

20-20-417 
 

Within 15 days 
after receipt of 

certificate of 
election 

By 
Wednesday, 

June 5 

Candidate completes and files Oath of Office with the County Superintendent. 
*Newly elected trustees may not be seated until the oath is filed.  The issuance and 
the oath may be administered at the organizational meeting (below), but must be 
completed within 15 days of issuance. 
**In the event of a recount, the deadline for a candidate to complete and file the 
oath is 15 days from receipt of the certificate of election. 

20-3-307 

20-1-202 

1-6-101 

 

1-1-307, MCA. Postponement of day appointed for an action when it falls on a holiday or Saturday. Whenever any act of a 
secular nature, other than a work of necessity or mercy, is appointed by law or contract to be performed upon a particular 
day, which day falls upon a holiday or a Saturday, such act may be performed upon the next business day with the same 
effect as if it had been performed upon the day appointed. 
 

If the deadline, as read in statute, is phrased "not later than…" the deadline does not move to a later date but 
an earlier one. 
 

Additional References: 
Sample forms can be found at this address: School Finance Election Webpage 
 
Election Manual:  School Election Handbook  
 
MT Secretary of State’s Office:  Secretary of State's Election Webpage 
 

NOTE:  Candidates for trustee positions in (1) a first-class district located in a county with populations of 15,000 or more, 

OR (2) a county high school district with an enrollment of 2,000 or more are required to file a C-1-A Statement of 

Candidate within 5 days of becoming a candidate.  For reporting dates and instructions contact the Montana 

Commissioner of Political Practices at:  Commissioner of Political Practices Webpage. 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

          
 
 

 
ITEM TITLE:        REPORT—BUDGET UPDATE         
 
Requested By: ___Superintendent          Prepared By:            Rebekah Rhoades    
                                                     
 
SUMMARY: 
  

Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, would like to update the Board of 
Trustees regarding some preliminary information regarding the 2019-2020 General Fund 
Budgets as well as the results of the spring student enrollment count. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational 
               

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 

02/11/2019 11 
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ELEMENTARY

2018-2019 Final Budget $6,281,294.57

2019-2020 Projected Budgets $6,421,268.19 w/out a vote
$6,441,327.62 w/a vote

2019-2020 Projected Expenses $6,558,384.57

Over/Under Budget ($137,116.38) w/out a vote
($117,056.95) w/a vote

FY19 Budget vs FY20 Budget $139,973.62 increase w/out a vote
$160,033.05 increase w/a vote

HIGH SCHOOL

2018-2019 Final Budget $3,273,592.13

2019-2020 Projected Budgets $3,283,583.33 w/out a vote
$3,283,583.33 w/a vote

2019-2020 Projected Expenses $3,309,964.98

Over/Under Budget ($26,381.65) w/out a vote
($26,381.65) w/a vote

FY19 Budget vs FY20 Budget $9,991.20 increase

2019-2020 BUDGET PROJECTIONS
As of 2/6/2019

The numbers above include the following:
2% increase to salaries for all staff 

10% health insurance increase
additional Pre-ETS Funding (approx. $50,000) at FHS

final ANB/Enrollment sent to OPI

Unknowns: Retirements/Staff Resignations, Health Insurance Rates, Kindergarten 
Enrollment, Title I Funding

Other Considerations: Certified Staffing at JHS (increase in enrollment), 
Paraprofessional needs
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS
Enrollment History
February 4, 2019

Grade
Fall 
2008

Spring 
2009

Fall 
2009

Spring 
2010

Fall 
2010

Spring 
2011

Fall 
2011

Spring 
2012

Fall 
2012

Spring 
2013

Fall 
2013

Spring 
2014

Fall 
2014

Winter 
2014

Spring 
2015

Fall 
2015

Spring 
2016

Fall 
2016

Spring 
2017

Fall 
2017

Spring 
2018

Fall 
2018

Spring 
2019 

Spring 2020 
Projected

Kindergarten 92 95 73 72 85 86 98 98 87 89 98 101 97 96 95 111 112 109 108 96 101 104 102 95
1st Grade 91 91 89 90 72 74 82 84 95 97 85 86 95 95 95 83 85 100 97 109 105 95 89 102
2nd Grade 101 101 90 88 90 99 75 75 81 79 95 95 82 82 83 95 97 86 86 95 95 98 99 89
3rd Grade 97 96 99 99 82 81 99 99 72 75 82 83 94 96 94 84 85 91 89 92 90 90 92 99
4th Grade 93 95 93 94 102 101 85 83 103 104 73 74 75 77 78 98 99 87 87 94 93 94 92 92
5th Grade 89 87 96 97 92 94 99 94 82 86 101 101 78 79 79 79 80 101 99 89 88 93 90 92
6th Grade 92 87 86 86 89 90 95 99 97 97 84 80 98 97 96 83 87 74 73 101 100 89 87 90
7th Grade 91 90 89 92 90 94 93 94 100 101 91 94 79 81 82 104 99 80 77 78 79 106 105 87
8th Grade 105 106 77 78 93 93 90 90 90 90 103 103 98 98 94 87 89 93 93 77 77 79 77 105
9th Grade 106 107 103 98 79 79 95 91 88 89 89 90 98 98 97 102 103 88 87 92 92 76 78 77

10th Grade 108 105 100 98 97 97 81 74 94 91 88 87 89 87 88 97 95 92 91 81 81 96 95 78
11th Grade 96 99 105 106 100 100 93 85 78 76 85 82 85 83 80 88 83 94 88 91 87 80 76 95
12th Grade 101 101 94 93 102 97 96 95 88 88 73 73 82 81 81 81 79 78 78 85 83 85 84 76

Fall 
2008

Spring 
2009

Fall 
2009

Spring 
2010

Fall 
2010

Spring 
2011

Fall 
2011

Spring 
2012

Fall 
2012

Spring 
2013

Fall 
2013

Spring 
2014

Fall 
2014

Winter 
2014

Spring 
2015

Fall 
2015

Spring 
2016

Fall 
2016

Spring 
2016

Fall 
2017

Spring 
2016

Fall 
2018

Spring 
2019

Spring 2020 
Projected

K-6 655 652 626 626 612 625 633 632 617 627 618 620 619 622 620 633 645 648 639 676 672 663 651 659
7-8 196 196 166 170 183 187 183 184 190 191 194 197 177 179 176 191 188 173 170 155 156 185 182 192
9-12 411 412 402 395 378 373 365 345 348 344 335 332 354 349 346 368 360 352 344 349 343 337 333 326

Grand Total 1262 1260 1194 1191 1173 1185 1181 1161 1155 1162 1147 1149 1150 1150 1142 1192 1193 1173 1153 1180 1171 1185 1166 1177
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

          
 
 

 
ITEM TITLE:        REPORT—INVESTMENT           
 
Requested By: ___Superintendent          Prepared By:            Rebekah Rhoades ______________________              
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 
 
 Interest earned and distributed for December 2018 was as follows: 
 
    Elementary: $7,353.06 
    High School: $5,790.35 
      $13,143.41 
   
 
 
 
 Interest earned and distributed for January 2019 was as follows: 
 
    Elementary: $8,504.07 
    High School: $6,429.48 
      $14,933.55 
   
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Informational 
               

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 

02/11/2019 12 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

          
 
 

 
ITEM TITLE:        REPORT—SUPERINTENDENT         
 
Requested By:       Superintendent   Prepared By:          Thom Peck _____________________________               
               
 
SUMMARY: 

Time is provided on the agenda for the Superintendent to discuss with the Board any calendar 
items, concerns, correspondence, future agenda items, and announcements. 

 

 All District January PIR Day 
 Staffing update – Retirement Incentives, Posted Openings (FACS, English, Elementary, 

Special Education) 
 Music Model Curriculum 
 Self-Contained Program Visits @ Lockwood and Billings Public Schools – Feb. 14 & other 
 Fire Marshal (Lighting) and MT Dept. of Labor Inspection (HP) – Thank You Mr. Lewis 
 Youth Risk Behavior Survey – February 19 
 LJHS – Yellowstone Field Trip – February 15-18 
 Geography Bee Winners (Kieran Netburn & Gavin Thomas) 
 Office of Civil Rights Data Collection 
 District 8C Basketball Tournament – February 14-16 
 Upcoming Tournament Passes –BBB/GBB Divisionals 
 County Spelling Bee—Tuesday, February 12, 2019—7:00 p.m.—FPAC 
 FHS Band Concert – Tuesday, February 26, 2019 – 7:00 p.m. – FCPA 
 FHS Choir Concert – Tuesday, March 5, 2019 – 7:00 p.m. - FCPA 
 LJHS Band and Choir Concert—Tuesday, March 12, 2019—7:00 p.m.—FCPA  
 Eastern/Central “A” Divisional Basketball Tournament – February 20-23, 2019, Billings 
 State “A” Boys & Girls Basketball Tournament – March 6-9, Great Falls Four Seasons 
 Spring Sports Begin—Monday, March 11, 2019 
 Home Athletic Games/Meets: 

 State Middle School Wrestling Tournament – March 2, 2019 
   

 

SUGGESTED ACTION:   Informational 
               

 Additional Information Attached      
               
Notes: 
 
 
 
 

 

02/11/2019 13 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:    RECOGNITION OF PARENTS, PATRONS, AND OTHERS WHO WISH TO ADDRESS  
    THE BOARD ON NON-AGENDA ITEMS        
 
Requested By:  __Board of Trustees__   Prepared By:     _____________________________   
              
  
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 Time is provided on the agenda for anyone who wishes to address the Board on non-agenda items. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   
 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
NOTES: 

02/11/2019 14 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      MINUTES            
 
Requested By:    Board of Trustees   Prepared By:              Rebekah Rhoades    ______________________     
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 The following minutes are attached for your approval: 
 

 Minutes of the January 14, 2019, Regular Board Meeting 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Approve Minutes as Presented 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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02/11/2019 15 
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MINUTES 
LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
 

 
LINCOLN BOARD ROOM 

215 Seventh Avenue South 
Lewistown, Montana 59457 

 

 
MONDAY, January 14, 2019 

 
 

REGULAR BOARD MEETING 
 
 
CALL TO ORDER (6:00 p.m.)  

1. ROLL CALL 
TRUSTEES PRESENT: 

Kris Birdwell, Jennifer Thompson, Phil Koterba, Monte Weeden, Stephen 
Vantassel, Jeff Southworth  

TRUSTEES ABSENT: 
 CJ Bailey 

   STAFF PRESENT: 
Superintendent Thom Peck, Business Manager/District Clerk Rebekah 
Rhoades, Luke Brandon, Holly Heser, DeeAnn Buehler, Sandy Fox, Bobbie 
Atchison, Lee Crouse, Jessica Miller 

OTHERS PRESENT: 
Miriam Campan – News Argus, Tanner Trafton – Student Representative, 
Libbey Fried-Jenness – Student Representative, Kendra Mehlfeldt, Zane 
Fulbright and other interested parties.   

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
3. MOTION TO SET AGENDA – Approved Unanimously (Birdwell/Thompson) 
4. Introduction of New Student Representative to the Board 

Jessica Miller introduced Libbey Fried-Jenness as the new Student Council 
Representative to the Board. 

5. Recognition – 8th Grade Girls Championship Basketball Team 
Lee Crouse, JHS Head Basketball Coach, introduced the 8th Grade Girls 
Basketball Team and recognized them for their accomplishments. 

6. Report—Student Representative  
Libbey Fried-Jenness, Student Representatives to the Board, reported on 
activities at Fergus High School.  

7. Report – LEA  
Luke Brandon, President of the Lewistown Education Association (LEA) 
updated the Board of Trustees on the activities and happenings for their 
organization.   He requested that the LEA is notified when certified positions 
are open in order for teachers to submit a transfer request form. 

8. Report—Committees of the Board 
The Calendar Committee will be meeting again on January 15, 2019 and 
progress is being made.  It is the intent of the Committee to present the final 
calendar to the Board at the March Regular Board Meeting. 

9. Calendar Items, Concerns, Correspondence, Etc. 
Trustee Birdwell encouraged Libbey Fried-Jenness to participate in discussion 
and feedback on Agenda items during any/all meetings. 
 
Mr. Peck informed the Board about various education bills sponsored by 87



 

 
 

MTSBA that are currently being considered by Legislature.  The Board was 
notified that February 11, 2019 is Public Education Day and March 18, 2019 
is Day of Advocacy.  Both take place at the Capitol in Helena. 

10. Report—Budget Information 
Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, was not able to be at the 
meeting to present, but did provide the Board a preliminary budget summary 
for the 2019-2020 school year.  Mr. Peck stated that the Elementary may 
have the authority to run a levy of approximately $30,000. 

11. Report—Election Information 
Rebekah Rhoades, Business Manager/District Clerk, was not able to be at the 
meeting to present, but provided the Board with the 2019 School Election 
Calendar and advised them of the Trustee seats that will be up for election in 
2019 – Phil Koterba and Jennifer Thompson. 

12. Report—Investment  
Interest for December 2018 was not available at the meeting, so will be 
presented in February. 

13. Report—Superintendent  
Superintendent Thom Peck reported that the application for the Central 
Montana Learning Center building had to be resubmitted and we are still 
waiting to hear on that application.  Technology providers have been touring 
the buildings for the purposes of E-rate bidding. The CTA kickoff meeting 
took place on January 10, 2019.  The Annual MHSA Meeting will be taking 
place later in the month and Mr. Peck and Jim Daniels will be attending.  He 
reported that there are 5 student teachers in the District this semester.  Mr. 
Peck updated the Board on various events taking place in the District.     
 

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
14. Recognition of Parents, Patrons, and Others Who Wish to Address the Board on 

Non-Agenda Items 
Zane Fulbright updated the Board Boys Cross Country and Girls Softball 
fundraising events taking place. 

   
ACTION ITEMS 
 MINUTES 

15. Minutes of the December 6, 2018, Special Board Meeting 
Minutes of the December 10, 2018 Regular Board Meeting  
– Approved unanimously (Birdwell/Thompson) 

 APPROVAL OF CLAIMS 
16. Claims – Approved unanimously (Birdwell/Thompson)  

Claims Committee for January through March 2019 will be Board Chair Phil 
Koterba, CJ Bailey, Jennifer Thompson, and Stephen Vantassel. 

 INDIVIDUAL ITEMS 
17. Approve Superintendent Contract – Approved unanimously (Thompson/Southworth) 
18. Offer a Retirement Incentive as per draft attached to agenda for $500/month for two-

years -  (Birdwell/Weeden) 
 
Discussion ensued regarding various options to consider for the Retirement 
Incentive.  Luke Brandon shared information gathered from the LEA members and 
costs of insurance. 
 
Amendment to original motion made to offer a Retirement Incentive with the 
amendment of Section II to the draft incentive attached to the agenda of $750/month 
for two (2) years (Weeden/no second) 
 
Second amendment to original motion made to offer a one-time Retirement Incentive 
of $800/month for two (2) years beginning September 1, 2019 either to be paid in 
cash or towards Health Insurance to Certified Teachers with an acceptance deadline 
of Friday, February 15, 2019 not to be offered again in FY2020 – approved 
unanimously (Weeden/Koterba) – 5 in favor, 1 opposed (Vantassel) 88



 

 
 

19. Approve Additions to the Substitute List for the 2017-2018 School Year – Approved 
unanimously (Thompson/Birdwell) 

20. Approve Personnel Report – See Exhibit A – Approved unanimously 
(Thompson/Weeden) 

 
ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:35 p.m (Koterba).  The next regular meeting will be held 
at 6:00 p.m. on Monday, February 11, 2019, at the Lincoln Board Room. 

 
 
 ________________________________        ________________________________ 
 PHILLIP R. KOTERBA    CHRISTY ROGERS 
 BOARD CHAIR     SUPERINTENDENT SECRETARY
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Monday January 14,  2019

EMPLOYEE NAME POSITION LOCATION RECOMMENDED ACTION EFFECTIVE DATE RECOMMENDED BY COMMENTS

NEFZGER, Sue High School Teacher Fergus High School Accept Letter of Resignation 5/31/2019 See Attached Letter

PERRINE, Michael Bus Driver Lewistown Public 
Schools

Approve appointment on schedule--EXTRA DUTY 
CONTRACT In-Town Driving/Fueling @ $11.43 per 
hour

1/14/2019 Steve Klippeness

EXHIBIT 'A'
LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

LEWISTOWN, MONTANA
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:     CLAIMS                           
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees    Prepared By:         LuAnn Schrauth______________________________              
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

Approve claims paid through February 8, 2019, as approved by the Finance Committee. 
  

Members of the Finance Committee for January-March 2019 include:  Board Chair Phil Koterba, 
CJ Bailey, Jennifer Thompson, and Stephen Vantassel. 
 
 
 

  
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Approve Claims as Presented 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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02/11/2019 16 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report  Action - Consent 
            Action - Indiv. 
            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE OUT-OF-DISTRICT STUDENT ATTENDANCE AGREEMENT REQUESTS FOR
      PLACEMENT IN AND OUT OF LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS  _______________ 
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:          Thom Peck _____________________________       
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the following requests for out-of-district students to 
attend the Lewistown Public Schools as indicated below. 
 
Student Grade  District of Residence  District of Choice   
 
V  Kindergarten Moore    Lewistown 
W  9  Moore    Lewistown 
X  8  Moore    Lewistown 
Y  5  Moore    Lewistown 
Z  3  Moore    Lewistown 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve Out-of-District Student Attendance Agreement Requests for Placement 
         Inside/outside of Lewistown Public Schools 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
      NOTES: 
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02/11/2019 17 

92



 

  

 
LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE FIRST SEMESTER CLAIM FOR INDIVIDUAL CONTRACT BUS   
      REIMBURSEMENT           
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:          Rebekah Rhoades _____________________________       
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the claim for the Individual Contract Bus 
Reimbursement for the first semester as presented on the attachment.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve Claim for Individual Contract Bus Reimbursement 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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14 Fergus
0258 Lewistown Elem

08/23/2018-01/18/2019

Daily Days Total

Contract # Shared Family Name Rate Isolation Transported Reimbursed Reimbursement
45296 False Reisig, Rebecca 0.84 No 88.0 88.0 73.92 *
45648 False Boogman, Zelda 1.19 No 88.0 88.0 104.72 *

Total Individual Contract Reimbursement 178.64

Board Chair _________________________________________________________________________________________
Signature

1/21/2019 11:22:09 AM https://reportsprd.opi.mt.gov:1443/ReportServer rptIndividualContractReimbursement Page 1

TR-5
Individual Contract Reimbursement Claim

1st Semester 2018-2019
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE FIRST SEMESTER ELEMENTARY AND HIGH SCHOOL CLAIMS FOR BUS  
      REIMBURSEMENT           
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:          Rebekah Rhoades _____________________________      
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

Attached are the first semester Elementary and High School claims for bus route 
reimbursement.  According to state law, each yellow bus route generates a per-mile 
reimbursement based on the rated capacity of the bus used on the route.  The money generated 
is used to fund home-to-school transportation in our Transportation Funds.  These payments are 
financed 50% each by the state and county, with the county’s portion financed by a permissive 
(i.e., unvoted) countywide levy.   

  
The Board of Trustees needs to approve the Elementary and High School Bus Route 
Reimbursement Claim Forms for the first semester as presented on the attachments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve First Semester Elementary and High School Bus Route  
         Reimbursement Claims 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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08/23/2018-01/18/2019

14 Fergus

0258 Lewistown Elem
Miles Days Total

Route # % Per Day Rate Driver VIN Claimed Reimbursed Reimbursement
1 67.00 84.0 1.57 Floyd L. Carter 4DRBWAAN8DB356001 90.0 90.0 7,952.36

2 67.00 84.0 1.80 Chad R. Francis 4DRBWAAR09A668040 90.0 90.0 9,117.36

3 67.00 59.0 1.36 Cindy L. Noel 4DRBWAAN7CB341925 90.0 90.0 4,838.47

4 67.00 70.0 1.80 Wayne R. Lelek 4DRBWAAN0hb524154 90.0 90.0 7,597.80

5 67.00 55.5 1.57 Jodi E. Tombarge 4DRBWAAN6GB000568 90.0 90.0 5,254.24

6 67.00 47.0 1.57 Deborah T. Walker 4DRBWAAN8DB356001 90.0 90.0 4,449.54

7 67.00 51.0 0.95 Albert C. White 4DRBUAAL1FB033528 90.0 90.0 2,921.54

8 67.00 49.8 1.80 Kirby D. Rector 4DRBWAAN1EB481987 90.0 90.0 5,405.29

11 100.00 50.0 1.36 Robert S. Odermann 4DRBWAAN9AA166953 90.0 90.0 6,120.00

Total Bus Route Reimbursement 53,656.60

Board Chair
Signature

Page 11/21/2019 10:54:01 AM https://reportsprd.opi.mt.gov:1443/ReportServer rptBusRouteReimbursementTR6
* Indicates that the County Superintendent must approve the TR-6 Bus Route Claim

TR-6
Bus Route Reimbursement Claim

1st Semester 2018-2019
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08/23/2018-01/18/2019

14 Fergus

0259 Fergus H S
Miles Days Total

Route # % Per Day Rate Driver VIN Claimed Reimbursed Reimbursement
1 33.00 84.0 1.57 Floyd L. Carter 4DRBWAAN8DB356001 90.0 90.0 3,916.84

2 33.00 84.0 1.80 Chad R. Francis 4DRBWAAR09A668040 90.0 90.0 4,490.64

3 33.00 59.0 1.36 Cindy L. Noel 4DRBWAAN7CB341925 90.0 90.0 2,383.13

4 33.00 70.0 1.80 Wayne R. Lelek 4DRBWAAN0hb524154 90.0 90.0 3,742.20

5 33.00 55.5 1.57 Jodi E. Tombarge 4DRBWAAN6GB000568 90.0 90.0 2,587.91

6 33.00 47.0 1.57 Deborah T. Walker 4DRBWAAN8DB356001 90.0 90.0 2,191.56

7 33.00 51.0 0.95 Albert C. White 4DRBUAAL1FB033528 90.0 90.0 1,438.97

8 33.00 49.8 1.80 Kirby D. Rector 4DRBWAAN1EB481987 90.0 90.0 2,662.31

Total Bus Route Reimbursement 23,413.56

Board Chair
Signature

Page 21/21/2019 10:54:01 AM https://reportsprd.opi.mt.gov:1443/ReportServer rptBusRouteReimbursementTR6
* Indicates that the County Superintendent must approve the TR-6 Bus Route Claim

TR-6
Bus Route Reimbursement Claim

1st Semester 2018-2019
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE TRUSTEE RESOLUTION CALLING FOR AN ELECTION    
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:         Rebekah Rhoades _____________________________       
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the Trustee Resolution Calling for an Election.   
 
Attached for your review is the Trustee Resolution Calling for an Election, an action the Board 
must take by Tuesday, February 26, 2019. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve Trustee Resolution Calling for an Election 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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TRUSTEE RESOLUTION CALLING FOR AN ELECTION 
 
BE IT RESOLVED, the Board of Trustees for School District No. 1, Fergus County, State of Montana, will hold the 
Annual Regular School Election on Tuesday, the 7th day of May, 2019, which date is not less than seventy (70) days 
after the passage of this resolution. 
 
The election will be conducted by: 
 
_x_ Mail Ballot     ___ Poll Election  
 
The purpose of the election is to elect two (2) trustees for a three‐year term. Approval of additional levies to 
operate and maintain the Elementary District General Fund for FY2019 and approval of additional levies to operate 
and maintain the High School District General Fund for FY 2019 will also be requested.  If it is later determined that 
any portion of the election is not required, the Board of Trustees authorizes Rebekah Rhoades, Election 
Administrator, to cancel that portion of the election in accordance with 13‐1‐304 and 20‐3‐313, MCA. 
 
The Board of Trustees hereby directs the Fergus County Clerk and Recorder to appoint election judges as needed 
for the mail ballot election. 
 
Voting Location and Address: 
The Fergus County Clerk and Recorder will administer the election.  Voters must return their mail ballots to the 
Fergus County Courthouse by 8:00pm on May 7, 2019. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk of the School District is hereby directed to notify the Fergus County Clerk 
and Recorder of the date of holding said election, and request him/her to close registration, notify the judges, and 
to prepare and furnish election materials as required by law.  
 
 
No further proceedings were conducted relating to the election. 
 
 
 
    Phil Koterba                   ______ 

Print Name of Board Chair               Signature of Board Chair 
 
 
    Rebekah Rhoades                    

Print Name of District Clerk               Signature of District Clerk 
 

 
 
DATED this 11th day of February, 2019.                 20‐20‐201, MCA  
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE 2019-2020 SCHOOL CALENDAR   _____________________ 
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:         Thom Peck _____________________________  
      
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the attached 2019 – 2020 School Calendar as presented 
on the attachment. 
  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve 2019-2020 School Calendar 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report  Action - Consent 
            Action - Indiv. 
            
ITEM TITLE:      APPROVE AUDIT CONTRACT FOR FY19-FY21       
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:          Rebekah Rhoades________            
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the audit contract for FY19-FY21.  State law requires 
annual audits of the Lewistown School District.  This year, we completed a 3-year contract with 
Strom and Associates, PC, and we must now engage an auditor for the next 3-year period.   

The Montana Department of Administration maintains a list of qualified local government 
auditors.  From time to time, entities are well served to change auditors, since different 
auditors tend to focus on different aspects of the District’s finances and internal 
controls.  However, all of the auditors on that list are equally qualified to perform the work by 
virtue of meeting the state’s requirements.   

Strom and Associates, PC has sent the District a quote of $12,500 for each of the next 3 years 
(the previous contract was for $11,000 per year). Historically, they have been the lowest cost 
provider and, in addition, have two auditors on staff that have shown a focus on different 
aspects of our finances.  Administration recommends signing another 3-year contract with this 
firm. 

 
SUGGESTED ACTION:  Approve Audit Contract with Paul Strom and Associates for FY19-FY21 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
      NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report  Action - Consent 
            Action - Indiv. 
            
ITEM TITLE:  APPROVE ADDITIONS TO THE SUBSTITUTE LIST FOR THE 2018-2019 SCHOOL        
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:     Christy Rogers   
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees needs to approve the additions to the substitute list for the 2018-2019 
School Year as listed below: 
 
 

 
Substitute Teacher/Aide List: 
Diane Beshore-Strohm 
Shannon Casale 
Danielle Gapay  
Alison Gremaux 

 Marvin Benjamin 
 Summer Goodan 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve Additions to the Substitute List for 2018-2019 School Year 
               
 

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
      NOTES: 
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LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 

 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

 Minutes/Claims      Board of Trustees      Superintendent’s Report  Action - Consent 
            Action - Indiv. 
            
ITEM TITLE:  APPROVE PERSONNEL REPORT_______________________________________________ 
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees    Prepared By:          Christy Rogers ________________________         
 
 
SUMMARY: 
 
 Attached is the Personnel Report for your review. 
 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:   Approve all items  
          
               
 

 Additional Information Attached     Estimated cost/fund source       
               
      NOTES: 
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Monday February 11,  2019

EMPLOYEE NAME POSITION LOCATION RECOMMENDED ACTION EFFECTIVE DATE RECOMMENDED BY COMMENTS

FELLER, Vic, HUDSON, 
Troy, JOHNSON, Orin 
and LEAR, Derek

Football Coaches Fergus High School
Approve Out-Of-State Travel to attend Football Clinic 
at Reno, Nevada  

3/6/19 thru 3/11/19 Jim Daniels See Attached Letter

HESER, Holly Certified Teacher Fergus High School Accept Letter of Resignation 5/31/2019 See Attached Letter

KELSEY, Michael Head Track Coach Jr. High School Accept Verbal Resignation 1/31/2019 Scott Dubbs

TRAFELET, Jeffrey Study Skills Paraprofessional Fergus High School
Approve appointment on schedule-- PARA 
EDUCATOR - CERT Step 0 for up to 7.5 hours per 
day up to 85 days

1/28/2019 Tim Majerus
Replacing Betty 
Sanders

WHITNEY-REED, Jill Certified Teacher Lewis & Clark Accept Letter of Resignation 5/31/2019 See Attached Letter

WIRTZBERGER, 
Danny, LEWIS, Matt and 
VENTRESCA, Matthew

Elementary Principals
Approve Out-Of-State Travel to attend the National 
Elementary Principals Conference at Spokane, WA

7-9-19 thru 7-12-19 Thom Peck See Attached Letter

LEWISTOWN, MONTANA
LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS

106



 

  

 

EXECUTIVE 
SESSION 

 
 
 
 

As per the provisions of 2-3-203 
Montana Codes Annotated. 

 
 

The Board Chair, 
will now call for an Executive Session 

deeming the demands of individual privacy 
clearly exceed the merits of public disclosure. 

 
 
 

All parties not involved in the Executive  
Session are asked to leave the Board Room 

at this time. 
 

  

107



 

  

 
 

LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS 
 Lewistown, Montana 
 
 BOARD AGENDA ITEM 
 
Meeting Date          Agenda Item No. 

                  
          
 

            
ITEM TITLE:      EXECUTIVE SESSION—SUPERINTENDENT’S POST EVALUATION    
 
 
Requested By:     Board of Trustees      Prepared By:          ____________________________________ 
               
 
SUMMARY: 
 

The Board of Trustees will go into Executive Session to conduct the Superintendent’s Post 
Evaluation. 
 
   

  
  
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
SUGGESTED ACTION:    
               
 

 Additional Information Attached      
               
      NOTES: 
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School District #1 Mission Statement: 

 

Excellence Today, Success Tomorrow 
 
 
 

Core Values of the Lewistown Public Schools: 

1. High Standards:  Lewistown Public Schools upholds high standards and expectations for the 
Board, staff and students of the district.  We strive to provide challenging curriculum taught by 
innovative leaders in the field of education, utilizing research-based curriculum and implementing 
best practices. 

2. Student-Centered:  The motivation for everything we do is based upon what is right and best 
for the children of our community.  We ensure the development, well-being and education of 
students through a variety of academic and extracurricular activities.  We assist students in 
overcoming challenges and help them celebrate their successes, all as part of a plan to maximize 
the potential of each student. 

3. Effective and Efficient Practices:  Lewistown Public Schools is committed to effective and 
efficient stewardship of our resources.   

4. Accountability:  Lewistown Public Schools is accountable for all that we do from fiscal 
management to the performance of students, staff, administration and the Board.  

5. Community Support:  Lewistown Public Schools understands that community support is vital, 
earned and continually renewed through consistent dedication to quality service.  We believe the 
key to success is found through mutual engagement of the community and the schools, effective 
interaction between parents, students, staff, administrators, trustees and all elements of the 
Lewistown Community.   We value the trust the community has invested in our public schools 
and we strive to earn and maintain that trust. 

6. Communication:  Lewistown Public Schools values effective and open communication with 
parents, students, staff, trustees and the community. 
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A. Pupil Instruction

First Semester 90 Days Second Semester 89 Days

FIRST QUARTER DAYS THIRD QUARTER DAYS

First Week Aug 23 -- Aug 24 2 First Week Jan 24 -- Jan 25 4
Second Week Aug 27 -- Aug 31 5 Second Week Jan 28 -- Feb 1 5

Third Week Sept 4 -- Sept 7 4 Third Week Feb 4 -- Feb 8 5

Fourth Week Sept 10 -- Sept 14 5 Fourth Week Feb 11 -- Feb 15 5

Fifth Week Sept 17 -- Sept 21 5 Fifth Week Feb 18 -- Feb 21 4

Sixth Week Sept 24 -- Sept 28 5 Sixth Week Feb 25 -- Mar 1 5

Seventh Week Oct 1 -- Oct 5 5 Seventh Week Mar 4 -- Mar 8 5

Eighth Week Oct 8 -- Oct 12 5 Eighth Week Mar 11 -- Mar 15 5

Ninth Week Oct 15 -- Oct 17 3 Ninth Week Mar 18 -- Mar 22 5

Tenth Week Oct 22 -- Oct 26 5 43
44

FOURTH QUARTER DAYS

SECOND QUARTER DAYS First Week Mar 25 -- Mar 28 4

First Week Oct 29 -- Nov 2 5 Second Week Apr 1 -- Apr 5 5

Second Week Nov 5 -- Nov 7 3 Third Week Apr 8 -- Apr 12 5

Third Week Nov 12 -- Nov 16 5 Fourth Week Apr 15 -- Apr 17 3

Fourth Week Nov 19 -- Nov 20 2 Fifth Week Apr 23 -- Apr 26 4

Fifth Week Nov 26 -- Nov 30 5 Sixth Week Apr 29 -- May 3 5

Sixth Week Dec 3 -- Dec 7 5 Seventh Week May 6 -- May 10 5

Seventh Week Dec 10 -- Dec 14 5 Eighth Week May 13 -- May 17 5

Eighth Week Dec 17 -- Dec 21 5 Ninth Week May 20 -- May 24 5

Ninth Week Jan 3 -- Jan 4 2 Tenth Week May 28 -- May 31 4

Tenth Week Jan 7 -- Jan 11 5 45

Eleventh Week Jan 14 -- Jan 18 5
47 Totals

179

B. Pupil Instruction Related Days (PIR) -  (Teachers ONLY - No School for Students)

August 21-22 PIR 2.00

October 18-19 Staff Development Days - Teachers Convention 2.00

November 7-8 Parent Teacher Conferences 1.50

(Evening on Nov. 7 from 4:00-7:00 pm; All Day Nov. 8)

PIR 1.00

Parent Teacher Conferences - Evening ONLY (Regular Day for Students) 0.50

January 21 
March 26

1 Floating PIR 1.00

8.00

C. Holidays / Vacations (Dates Inclusive)

Labor Day

Fall Vacation (Teachers - Convention)

Vacation Day

Thanksgiving Vacation

Winter Break

PIR (Vacation day for Students)

Vacation Day

Vacation Day

Spring Break

September 3

October 18-19 
November 9

November 21-23 
December 24 - January 2 
January 21

February 22

March 29

April 18, 19 & 22

May 27 Memorial Day

LEWISTOWN PUBLIC SCHOOLS

2018-2019  SCHOOL CALENDAR
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